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CtaC Colleagues
We are proud to present our colleagues to you. 
This beautiful collage was presented during our 
20th anniversary celebrations and we would like to 
thank all our colleagues for this wonderful gift. 

Henny Hilgerdenaar and Douwe van der Werf 



As is well-known, 2011 was a difficult year for Ctac. There were changes at the executive 
management level and a loss - even if that was partly due to a downward adjustment of 
goodwill, rather than a lack of revenue. All this resulted in measures being implemented in the 
last few months of 2011 that were designed to help us recover. We continued with this approach 
in 2012 and it has produced positive results because, under the present economic conditions, a 
modest profit and a positive cash flow are indeed positive results. Ctac is now doing relatively 
well and we have a number of factors to thank for this.

First of all, we are not a ‘billing factory’ out to bill our 
clients for as many hours as possible. We deliver cus-
tomised solutions that contribute to our client’s success 
and our invoices are prepared from that perspective. In 
this way we both literally and figuratively generate value 
and grow our brand. Ctac also is not big in the sense of 
being heavy, rigid or slow. Bureaucratic obstacles are 
unknown to us and we still consider it very important 
that our business relationships connect with the right 
person without any deviations. We do, however, have 
the knowledge and know-how of our big It colleagues 
but we combine that with the flexibility of a smaller 
organisation. this is something that makes us a special 
player in the ICt field in the netherlands, Belgium and 
France.

our risk diversification is also something we can be 
pleased about. It is a spread that is reflected in our 
organisation which is structured along several lines. 
We have sap consulting and Microsoft consulting - 
both areas in which we provide services and software 
solutions, and our hosting branch that currently enjoys 
the confidence of over two hundred thousand users 
where the only thing they notice is that their systems 
work. and finally, we have Belgium and France as our 
international offices.

the powerhouse model has proven its worth over many 
years and the values are firmly embedded in our or-
ganisation. But now it is time for a more centralised ap-
proach. We all are Ctac professionals. one of the direct 
consequences of this is that cross-selling is flourishing 
as never before - one of those pleasant side-effects of 
increasing internal cohesion. 

so parallel to our ‘unification’, in september 2012, we 
traded in the powerhouse identifier for a more striking 
pay-off: enabling your ambition. striking, because hel-
ping our clients, employees, suppliers and shareholders 
realise their ambitions - is also our ambition. and how 
do we realise this ambition? By delivering a broad port-
folio of high-quality solutions and services, and to first 
and foremost assess them in terms of their added value 
for the business of our clients. or to put it another way: 
by being a ‘Value partner’, something which all Ctac 
professionals contribute to.

this approach can be seen to work as we have seen 
demonstrated by the improved turnover and profit-
ability we reported in 2012. ‘Ctac continues its upward 
trend’ – a line which has become a recurring headline 
in our outgoing press releases. and this is also some-
thing which is based on organic growth; in other words, 
without mergers or takeovers. 

and finally, an undisputed bonus is our new offices in 
pettelaarpark in the netherlands which were opened 
last september by the Mayor of ‘s-Hertogenbosch. It is 
a very comfortable location for working and for meet-
ing each other. our employees are pleased with it and 
hopefully you are as well. so to sum everything up: a 
good starting point for 2013.

Henny Hilgerdenaar, Ceo
Douwe van der Werf, CFo

preFaCe
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CtaC In FIgures

Key figures  2012  2011

Results (in EUR x 1 million)

net turnover 79.9  73.0
gross margin  57.6  56.6 
operating result before impairment of goodwill 
and one-off restructuring costs 2.0  (0.0)
operating result  2.0  (12.7) 
result from ordinary activities before tax  1.2  (13.2)
net result 0.8  (12.7)
Cash flow (net result plus depreciation)  2.3   1.2 
     

Employees (in FTE)

as at 31 December  438  461
average over the year  448  472 
turnover per employee (per Fte x eur 1,000)  178  155
turnover per chargeable employee (per Fte x eur 1,000)  197  170  

Selection of balance sheet figures (in EUR x 1 million)

shareholders’ equity  7.0  6.1 
net bank debt 4.5  6.1 
total assets  39.9  37.4 
     

Ratios

operating result/net turnover  2.5%  (17.4%) 
net profit/net turnover  1.0%  (17.5%)
net profit/average shareholders' equity 12.3%  (103.4%)
shareholders' equity/total assets  17.5%  16.3%
     

Data per share of EUR 0.24 nominal value

number of weighted average outstanding ordinary shares 11,731,147  11,619,317
net result  0.07  (1.10)  
Cash flow (net profit plus depreciation)  0.19  0.10 
shareholders’ equity 0.60  0.52 
Cash dividend proposal  0  0
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proFIle

With a great deal of passion and commitment, Ctac helps organisations increase their business 
value by setting up, maintaining and updating their ICT infrastructure. We have done this since 
1992 on the basis of sound technological knowledge combined with in-depth knowledge of 
industries and business processes. This expertise constitutes the foundation of a broad range 
of solutions for supporting all core processes within businesses, from financial administration to 
logistics, from procurement to sales. Ctac operates from the Netherlands, Belgium and France.

our main objective is offering customised, innovative 
and future-proof products and services at the interface 
of business and ICt in order to enable our customers 
to realise their ambitions. and in september 2012, this 
resulted in a new company descriptor: Enabling your 
Ambition.

Enabling your Ambition
the starting point is to deliver quick, practical, appropri-
ate and reliable ICt solutions that immediately result in 
improvements and profitability for the customer. these 
solutions support organisations as they strive for con-
tinuity and profitability, but also in their efforts towards 
growth, flexibility, strength, lower costs, more efficient 
operations, better products and services and/or greater 
market share. In short: more competitive advantage. 

an initial requirement for this is support through a 
reliable ICt infrastructure. this environment must not 
only be fully in order technologically, but must also 
be geared to the specific requirements of the sector 
in which the organisation operates. only then can an 
organisation flexibly respond to the dynamics in its in-
dustry and reap the rewards of an efficient and reliable 
information system.

From IT supplier to Value Partner
Ctac is realising this transformation by presenting itself 
in a target-oriented manner and by evolving into a 
Value partner; something which is a strategic ambition 
for the coming years. Business consultancy plays an 
important role in this. We look at how we can support, 
optimise and innovate the customer’s business opera-
tions and help it move forward: how does the customer 
benefit from improvements as a result of our proposi-
tion? every consultant must translate this into added 
value in his/her own work. 

In addition to value consultancy, other factors, includ-
ing strategic factors, are also important. In particular, 
technological innovation and the provision of so-called 
Composed solutions (modular cross-industry solutions) 
set the tone here. providing total convenience for the 
customer by being a total solution provider is another 
strategy that has been deliberately adopted. 

Innovation Partner
Focus on the Future
achieving ambitions requires constant innovation of busi-
ness processes and so technological innovation is there-
fore high on our agenda. and in particular sustainable 
solutions with added value, because companies invest 
in technology with a view to long-term profitability. Ctac 
proactively seeks out innovative possibilities for making 
the ICt environment of organisations more future-proof. 
trends such as in-memory computing, mobility and cloud 
services are directly translated into added value for the 
customer. In doing this we can anticipate topical ques-
tions from customers such as: how do you handle Big 
Data? How can you use apps to work more efficiently? 
What advantages are there to working in the cloud?

over the past twenty years, our professionals have built 
up extensive and in-depth expertise in business pro-
cesses within various industries. this knowledge forms 
the basis for our wide range of innovative solutions for 
virtually all core processes at companies. each and every 
one of these solutions is a relevant solution that has 
been developed in close cooperation with the market 
and is therefore optimally tailored to the ambitions of 
the customer. Due to this process of co-innovation, 
companies can bring their information processing to the 
desired level and immediately operate more efficiently. 

structured approach
Innovation will have our full attention in the coming 
years. all activities in this area will be combined in a 
dedicated innovation team led by an Innovation Direc-
tor. the underlying reasoning is that more unity results 
in more cohesion and therefore in more success. We 
have also set up a radar team that scans the market 
for relevant developments. this team’s primary task is 
to transfer knowledge and provide inspiration, via topic 
sessions, for instance. think of a round table for cus-
tomers from a particular industry, in which we exchange 
ideas with CIos and It managers on their concerns and 
possible directions in which to seek solutions. 

research & Development is also thoroughly addressed 
in our C-labs, where we extensively research and test 
the newest technologies. these laboratories provide in-
tensive guidance for the innovation process, from initial 
concept to concrete business value. By spending time 
on r&D, we underline our commitment and customer 
focus, which explain our success in the market.

Composed Solutions 
Companies generally demand solutions that they can 
benefit from directly, with short implementation times 
and controllable costs. they also have a preference 
for standard products above tailor-made products, 
which are expensive and time consuming and which, 
moreover, complicate maintenance. Ctac provides an 
excellent answer to this with Composed solutions: 
unique, cross-industry solutions that are composed of 
ready-made components. Characterised by optimal 
coordination between software, business processes and 
employees. they can be easily combined into a broad, 
modular solution. this could be an end-to-end solution, 
but does not need to be. one example is the Fit4retail 
template, to which we can link a Business Intelligence 
or document application. the possibilities are endless. 
the customer benefits from a 'customised standard so-
lution' that is surprisingly scalable and perfectly tailored 
to the company's needs.

these preconfigured solutions can be taken into use 
surprisingly quickly and the benefits can be reaped 
within a short period. Ctac provides these for the retail, 
wholesale, real estate and charity industries, and we 
fully guide these solutions, i.e. from taking stock of the 
situation all the way through to implementation. the 
guiding principle here is that the business operations 
must not be inconvenienced and that the customer 
must be able to reap the benefits of the chosen solution 
as soon as possible.

Many Composed solutions are realised in cooperation 
with our partners. Besides sap and Microsoft, which 
supply the basic software, these partners include promi-
nent niche players such as ricoh, readsoft, Winshuttle, 
Qlikview and redwood. 

Total Solution Provider 
complete portFolio
scale is crucial in facilitating another party's ambitions. 
Ctac is large enough to offer customers a fully-fledged 
package of products and services: the characteristic of 
a total solution provider. We are therefore also able to 
think up and build, as well as maintain any ICt solution 
desired. With this combination of think, build & keep-it-
running, we provide total convenience for the customer.

In addition to industry-specific solutions, we also supply 
a broad range of generic solutions such as Business In-
telligence, Warehouse Management and CrM, whether 
in the cloud or not via software-as-a-service (saas) 
or Infrastructure-as-a-service (Iaas). Ctac completes 
its broad product range with a series of high-quality 
services that enable customers to make the most of 
their ICt investments. these range from business con-
sultancy, software development and managed services 
to mobility and cloud services, including training and 
secondment. this is based, without exception, on a 

professional approach, an innovative perspective and 
personal contact. 

Ctac guarantees an optimal service level, regardless 
of whether this concerns implementation of business 
software or the management of systems. this means 
that we are prepared to act as the ICt director for our 
customers, a role that we are pleased to assume. If 
 necessary, together with critically selected third parties, 
we can also implement the total solution together. 

Focus on the customer
after having proved its value for many years, the Ctac 
powerhouse business model was replaced at the end 
of 2012. the advantage that had been envisioned - 
synergy through cooperation – had been achieved. the 
new strategy has retained the possibility of operating 
flexibly, decisively and driven by demand. Industry, 
service and solution continue to remain areas of focus. 
along with this, however, the cooperation between the 
different specialised business units has been signifi-
cantly reinforced. a cooperation that has increased 
effectiveness and efficiency. 

the various sales departments have been combined 
into a single company-wide department, managed by 
a Commercial Director. a measure that is not at the 
expense of the attention for specific industries or (com-
posed) solutions. In fact, central management actually 
boosts consultation among the sales employees and 
increases the possibilities of spotting cross-selling, up-
selling and other opportunities. the plenary approach 
also means that bottlenecks in the sales process are 
resolved earlier. 

More focus on commercial management means more 
attention to account management as well as the profes-

“  'Fast, practical, 
appropriate 
and reliable ict 
solutions that 
immediately result in 
improvements and 
proFitability For the 
customer.”
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proFIle

sionalisation of the internal sales organisation. the aim 
is to make both the existing and future customer the 
focus. 
 
Key Areas of Focus
Ctac’s service provision reflects the current market and 
divides the efforts into four focal areas:  
1. sap services 
2. Managed services 
3. Microsoft services 
4. other 

1. SAP services 
our sap services encompass all sap related activities 
in the netherlands, Belgium and France focused on the 
following industries and cross-industry solutions.

industries – strength derived From optimal 
knowledge oF the market 
For our market-oriented activities, it’s all about knowl-
edge of the customer and his processes (customer 
intimacy). to this end, Ctac has developed extensive 

knowledge of various industries such as consumer 
products, retail, logistics, real estate, utilities, whole-
sale and manufacturing. all industry-specific solutions 
delivered are supported on a project basis. Within these 
markets, we also act as business partner and consultant 
and, furthermore, offer tailored solutions. our people 
are aware of the challenges, follow new developments 
closely and speak the language of the company. as we 
are a frontrunner in signalling changes in the market, 
we can translate these into innovative ICt solutions that 
give the customer a leading edge.

cross-industry solutions – perFormance as a 
result oF durable solutions
the knowledge-oriented Ctac business units deliver 
in-depth product expertise to optimise core processes 
and solve specific customer demands. they develop 
innovative state-of-the-art solutions that can be imple-
mented in every market and are therefore industry-inde-
pendent. Disciplines in which we excel include Business 
Intelligence (BI), Mobility and education.

2. Managed Services
Ctac has been active in hosting and managing com-
puter environments in the netherlands and Belgium for 
more than fifteen years. We do this with a dedicated 
team of specialists who have in-depth knowledge of the 
various industries. the strength of the team, the exper-
tise of our people and the focus on result are important 
distinguishing factors in this. Ctac Managed services 
has a strong focus on supporting powerful and complex 
infrastructures for database-oriented business crucial 
sap systems. In terms of the number of customers, we 
can call ourselves the market leader in the Benelux.

We provide total management services for companies 
of all sizes, in every sector. no woolly stories or lengthy 
reports, but fast, practical solutions that immediately 
lead to improvements and convenience. services that 
are primarily designed for organisations that wish to 
guarantee a professional infrastructure on their way to 
operational excellence. Furthermore, we have the high-
est certifications in the market for this. 

cloud services
technology is developing at an astonishing pace. that 
is why innovation is high on our agenda. an example 
is the launch of cCloud2.0, our new cloud concept. an 
innovative step in providing flexible and scalable server 
and storage capacity. With cCloud2.0 Ctac offers a high-
quality package of services based on Infrastructure-as-a-
service (Iaas) and platform-as-a-service (paas). among 
other things it offers a standard framework for com-
munication with mobile devices and big data solutions. 
this makes the platform future-proof.

the concept was developed on the basis of our experi-
ence with 230,000 national and international users of 
sap, Microsoft and other systems. thanks to the pay 
per use model, the services are available 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week, and customers can achieve substan-
tial savings without making investments themselves.

3. Microsoft services
Our Microsoft services encompass all Microsoft-relat-
ed activities in the Netherlands focused on the follow-
ing industries and cross-industry solutions.

industries – more eFFiciency derived From opti-
mal knowledge oF the market 
With the navision erp-solution we focus mainly on the 
leisure & hospitality, charity and professional services 
industries. this flexible total solution from Microsoft 
Dynamics satisfies high standards of user convenience, 
modifiability and scalability and can also be easily linked 
to sap. the package has been developed to ensure 
better coordination of all business processes and to 
support these in an integrated manner. the demonstra-
ble results: greater efficiency, higher productivity and 
lower costs.

cross-industry solutions – one uniForm 
reality 
In order to quickly and easily deliver one uniform reality, 
Ctac Dynamics has developed the link between the flex-
ible CrM business software of Microsoft Dynamics and 
sap. the user-friendly and highly integrated e-business 
solutions are also part of the portfolio.

4. Other
persity search: recruitment & selection
the right candidate for the right client. that is what 
persity search, Ctac’s recruitment and selection arm, 
stands for. the service provision is characterised by per-
sonal attention for all the parties involved. persity looks 
beyond the curriculum vitae and job profile; the (overall) 
personality of the candidate and the culture of the 
client are taken into account. If requested, we can help 
the candidate with advice on ambitions, competences, 
market and salary. persity search is specialised in the 
sap market. this focus makes us recognisable for both 
the party seeking the service and the candidate. as a 
niche player we are able to deliver higher quality.

Specialism

• IndustrIes

ctac consumer products 
Delivers powerful, versatile and flexible sap sector solu-
tions, such as run4Food, run4Feed and run4Fresh, that 
build on years of food experience and that are suitable 
for all organisations in the whole process chain of the 
food industry. Directed at improvement of processes in 
which supply and demand can fluctuate strongly and 
speed is of crucial importance. 

ctac third party logistics
sap expertise partner for supply Chain execution, mar-
ket leader in sap les and sap sCM consultancy. this 
manages change processes and offers advanced solu-
tions for, among others, storage methods and inventory 
planning. High-quality total solutions for controlling the 
logistic flow of goods for customers (third party), includ-
ing products and services for warehousing, transport 
and customs.

ctac real estate
the ICt partner for the real estate sector. this helps 
corporations and other companies with the realisation 
of modern, integrated real estate information systems 
based on the proven sap platform. CHare as the 
flexible foundation for process-oriented information 
management for real estate processes and activities. 

ctac manuFacturing
Introduces sap Business all-in-one Manufacturing as 
the compact template for the manufacturing industry, 
leading to more flexible production, less administration, 
more adequate planning – without a single interface. 
this gives clear insight into purchase orders, stock 
levels, deliveries and logistics, plus the financial 
processing. 

ctac wholesale
the sap retail Business all-in-one Wholesale template 
has been developed to meet your specific require-
ments. Compact, yet complete, the template supports 
all common business processes and provides an excel-
lent basis for a complete integration. this gives you 
direct insight into essential business information, from 
the status of a purchase order to the final financial pro-
cessing. Ctac offers Microsoft Dynamics naV for smaller 
wholesale companies that are looking for a flexible and 
quickly adaptable solution. this solution provides a 
consistent view of things such as stock, project admin-
istration and finances. a key feature of this solution is 
its ease of use due to the recognisable Microsoft look 
& feel. In addition the solution is fully integrated with 
outlook, Word and excel. 

“  ctac guarantees an optimal service level, 
regardless oF whether this concerns 
implementation oF business soFtware or the 
management oF systems.”
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ctac test services
Integral solutions for professional testing and accept-
ance of sap and related applications upon release 
changes and other major system changes. provides 
complete test projects and provides experienced re-
sources for existing projects.

invoice cockpit
Innovative total solution for electronic invoice process-
ing that can lower the cost per invoice by fifty to sixty 
percent. results in time savings and makes the process-
ing of purchasing invoices considerably more efficient. 
Designed in collaboration with readsoft and ricoh.

ctac dynamics crm 
For many companies, consolidating customer data in 
one system continues to be a challenge. as a result, a 
lot of time is wasted every day searching for customer 
details. this time can be better devoted to custom-
ers. Ctac has therefore developed a link to integrate 
sap and Microsoft Dynamics CrM. thus essential data 
is made available in one location and can be used to 
respond to customer queries

yellow & red ebusiness
realises user-friendly and strongly integrated e-Busi-
ness solutions based on Microsoft technology. usability, 
content management and integration with existing pro-
cesses and systems. sharepoint guarantees seamless 
integration of company website, operating system and 
operating processes.

• servIces

cms technology
tailored technical management expertise with the em-
phasis on sap set-up, configuration, upgrades, patches, 
performance analysis and tuning, architecture advice, 
related operating systems and database platforms. In 
short: all the technical services for the 24/7 problem-
free availability of sap systems. 

cms hosting
availability, security, data recovery and compliance; 
these are the highest priorities where systems are con-
cerned. Ctac’s hosting stands for the most cost-efficient 
method to ensure these necessities ‘round the clock’. 
safeguarded against disasters, payment according to 
use. In short: security at the lowest price.

cms Functional
Biggest management partner of sap. offers the suitable 
answer to all issues regarding continuity, performance, 
capacity and optimisation. tailor-made total solutions 
for every sector and company size. operates remotely, 
on-site and on a project basis.

cms ccc 
Management activities are supported by the Customer 
Care Centre (CCC) that consists of our service Desk 
and service Managers. the service Desk is the point of 
contact for all customers. the service Managers ensure 
the quality of the management service.

ctac education
training consultancy, practical training programmes and 
workshops in the use and management of sap systems. 
Makes use of practical tools to fill in change manage-
ment in the desired manner and to achieve an optimal 
project result. professional audits in Business Intelli-
gence, sap security, sap Financials and aBap.Business 
Intelligence, sap security, sap Financials en aBap.

• other

persity resourcing
staffing of Ctac projects and secondments at customers 
with both internal and external consultants. In addition, 
persity resourcing has very experienced sap profes-
sionals on the payroll who are remunerated based on 
turnover-generating ability. any construction is possible, 
but always based on a strong personal network.

persity search 
staffing of Ctac projects and secondments at customers 
with both internal and external consultants. In addition, 
persity resourcing has very experienced sap profes-
sionals on the payroll, who are remunerated based on 
turnover-generating ability. any construction is possible, 
but always based on a strong personal network.

ctac retail
total retail automation with intelligent sap retail solu-
tions for retail and wholesale companies consists of 
qualified templates and xV retail. this user friendly and 
flexible Multi-channel retail solution is fully integrated 
with sap. 

ctac utilities
Combines specific system and product knowledge of 
the energy sector with ample management experience. 
Developed with extensive expertise in sap erp and 
sap Is-u, it provides business consultancy, application 
consultancy and project management. an expert in the 
sector, with additional connections in manufacturing, 
trade and (semi) government.

ctac leisure & hospitality
offers ready-made and integrated functionality for the 
day recreation sector. Ideal for businesses wanting more 
visitors and lower operating expenses – regardless 
whether it concerns an amusement park, zoo, swimming 

pool or theatre. all business processes are optimally 
supported from the front desk up to and including the 
financial administration. 

ctac proFessional services
CrM total solution of Microsoft Dynamics for project 
administration including phasing, time registration and 
a fast settlement of the invoicing processes. supports 
project-based operating companies in their business 
processes. Ctac provides for delivery, implementation 
and management.

ctac charity
Ctac Charity is based on Microsoft Dynamics software 
– navision for business operations and CrM customer 
relations management. Ctac used these products as a 
basis for a system that anticipates all the requirements 
of a charitable organisation.

• cross Industry servIces

ctac application liFecycle management
realises considerable savings by using sap solution 
Manager and enables companies to get more out of 
sap. Directed at an efficient use of systems and applica-
tions through cost reduction, higher productivity or a 
wider range of services to the operations units. 

ctac business intelligence
advice and implementation services in the field of 
sap BI for companies on their way to ‘best-run busi-
ness’. provides managers with accurate management 
information at every desired level. For a better grip on 
the company and capitalising on market opportunities 
at lower costs. 

ctac enterprise asset management
Integral services for optimal security, installation availa-
bility, emission management and compliance. Improved 
overall performance of business assets at controllable 

costs for companies who really wish to operate in a 
sustainable manner. 

ctac netweaver solutions 
user-friendly and safe implementation of the sap envi-
ronment for higher turnover and lower costs. yellow2B 
introduces maKlIK®: a unique concept with which sap 
becomes available for a wider public. even for the inex-
perienced sap user.

ctac winshuttle 
easy, fast and safe exchange of data between sap and 
Microsoft excel or access. a user-friendly and economic 
solution to automate data entry and to reduce the costs 
of data management with immediate benefits. 

“  central management actually boosts 
internal discussions and increases the 
possibilities oF spotting opportunities.”

14   CtaC annual report 2012 15



tHe CtaC sHare

Financial schedule 2013/2014

13 March 2013 publication of 2012 annual Figures
3 april 2013 publication of 2012 annual report
15 May 2013 general Meeting of shareholders
15 May 2013 publication of Quarterly report for the first quarter 2013
29 august 2013 publication of Half-year figures 2013
7 november 2013 publication of Quarterly report for the third quarter 2013
12 March 2014 publication of 2013 annual Figures
14 May 2014 general Meeting of shareholders 

Key figures ordinary shares 

number of weighted average outstanding ordinary shares:   11,731,147
Highest closing price 2012 (eur):   1.08
lowest closing price 2012 (eur):   0.65
Closing price year-end 2012 (eur):   0.84
net result per share (eur):   0.07
operating result per share (eur):   0.17
Dividend per share (eur):   0.00
Dividend yield in % at year-end 2012:   0%
net asset value (eur):   0.60

Data per share of EUR 0.24 nominal value  2012  2011

number of weighted average outstanding ordinary shares 11,731,147  11,619,317 
net result 0.07  (1.10) 
Cash flow (net profit plus depreciation)  0.19  0.10 
shareholders’ equity 0.60  0.52
proposed dividend in cash 0  0

Paid-up and called-up share capital
the authorised share capital amounts to eur 7,200,000 
and is divided into 30,000,000 shares of eur 0.24 as fol-
lows: 14,999,999 ordinary shares, 15,000,000 preference 
shares and 1 priority share. the issued share capital 
consists of 11,771,586 ordinary shares and 1 priority 
share.

Development of share capital
the number of outstanding ordinary shares on 31 
December 2012 amounted to 11,771,586.

Dividend policy
In principle, Ctac's dividend policy aims to pay out 30% 
to 40% of the net profit to its shareholders. Ctac may 
depart from this policy in connection with the financing 
of future growth.

Act on Disclosure of Major Holdings
the register of the netherlands authority for the Finan-
cial Markets (aFM) in connection with the disclosure 
of major holdings of shareholders in securities-issuing 
institutions contains as of 31 december 2012 the follow-
ing investors with participating interests higher than 5% 
(source: aFM). 

Date of disclosure Disclosing Party  Interest

10 March 2008 Zuidwal Holding B.V.  28.53%
17 July 2008 alpha Holding B.V., elpico B.V., Invenet B.V.   14.26%
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Mr H.L.J. Hilgerdenaar (1960),  
Dutch nationality.

Director under the articles of association
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Mr D.G.H. van der Werf (1955),  
Dutch nationality. 

Director under the articles of association
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 

Appointed on 16 May 2012

superVIsory BoarD

Mr H.G.B. Olde Hartmann (1959), 
Dutch nationality.

Chairman of the supervisory Board

owner-manager of Financieel 
Bedrijfsmanagement (FBM) B.V.
Member of the supervisory boards 
of papierverwerkende Industrie Van 
den Brink B.V., VsI B.V., adimec 
Holding B.V. and Vleems Holding 
B.V.

Appointed to the Supervisory 
Board of Ctac in May 2005. The 
current term is for four years 
until the date of the 2013 Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders.

Mr H.P.M. Jägers (1941),  
Dutch nationality.

emeritus professor at the Faculty 
of economics and Business of the 
university of amsterdam. Important 
ancillary positions: Chairman of the 
supervisory board of the stichting 
erfgoed, Chairman of the senioren 
Kennis netwerk (sKn) oisterwijk.

Appointed to the Supervisory 
Board of Ctac in May 2002. The 
current term is for four years 
until the date of the 2014 Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders.

Mr E. Kraaijenzank (1956),  
Dutch nationality.

 
Board member, CFo and Coo 
avebe.
Member of the supervisory board 
of HZpC. 
 

Appointed to the Supervisory 
Board of Ctac in May 2009. The 
current term is for four years 
until the date of the 2013 Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders.
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HooFDstuKtItel

Introduction
2012 was another difficult year for the ICT sector and thus also for Ctac. The slight economic 
recovery that was initially expected did not really manifest itself during the year. 
However, thanks to our good positioning in the market as an ICT Solution Provider and our more 
clearly defined strategy, steps were nonetheless taken in 2012 in terms of (organic) growth in 
turnover and improved profitability. 

Results 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in eur x 1.000)   

net turnover  79,861 72,983 71,402 68,366 72,320
 
net result  805 (12,737) 201  (2,115)  4,947 

personnel
average number of employees (Fte)  448  472 462 460 415 

Ratios
operating result/net turnover 2.5%  0.0%* 1.7%  (2.6%) 10.7% 

* excluding the impairment of goodwill of eur 11.5 million and one-off restructuring costs of eur 1.2 million.

Strategy
‘enabling your ambition’
It is Ctac's ambition to develop durable Composed ICt 
solutions for its customers. Composed solutions are 
unique sector-specific applications that are composed 
of ready-made components. our extensive knowledge 
of the market sectors in which we operate and in-depth 
knowledge regarding the application of innovative ICt 
technologies enable us to do this. 

In the past few years, Ctac has structured its organisa-
tion and defined its strategy more clearly in such a way 
that Ctac can focus optimally on the transition from 
erp service provider to solution provider. In the com-
ing years, the focus will shift more towards the further 
expansion of business units that are completely market 
and/or knowledge-oriented and that are optimally 
structured to provide high quality, specialist solutions to 
customers. 

this model, whereby the responsibility for results lies 
within the business unit, and the commercial team acts 
from within the business unit, corresponds excellently 
with Ctac's company culture, where entrepreneurship 
and teamwork are core values. 

the theme of the strategy which has been more clearly 
defined over the past two years is ‘enabling ambitions’. 
not just the ambitions of customers, but also those of 
our own employees. 

Within this context, Ctac distinguishes the following 
objectives: 

•  the unburdening of (international) customers in the 
(larger) sMe segment by offering appropriate and reli-
able ICt solutions at acceptable rates. these solutions 
should also make an important contribution to the 
profitability of these customers and the continuity of 
their companies;

•  the further development from ERP service provider 
into distinctive supplier of composed ICt solutions 
(solution provider);

•  to develop the Ctac organisation so that it can capital-
ise on market opportunities and guarantee continuity 
for all stakeholders. 

More concretely, we will aim to create added value 
for our customers and the quality solutions for our 
customers in the selected market segments will have a 
recognisable added value. effectiveness remains very 
important, with special attention being given to flexibi-
lity, customer-orientation and employee satisfaction. 

Sectors in which ctac is active
as of 2012, we approach the sectors in which Ctac is 
active in a manner that is more in line with our proposi-
tions for our customers and based upon which our inter-
nal organisation is now organised. this has taken place 
as a result of the more clearly defined strategy whereby 
specialist knowledge about various market sectors 
prevails over the size of the customer. 

In the netherlands, the activities of Ctac MKB, Ctac 
Business services and Ctac professional services have 
now been clustered into new units. these business 
units target existing and newly defined markets and 
areas where Ctac wishes to and can play an active role 
and where the portfolio model, consultancy, hosting 
and management, and products can be applied. In 
this model, Ctac aims for a well-balanced distribution 
whereby it remains our aim that Managed services 
constitutes at least 50% of the turnover. 

similar activities are clustered in the new structure. 
Ctac distinguishes four business units: Ctac Consulting, 
Ctac Microsoft, Ctac Managed services and other. the 
activities covered by Ctac Managed services involve 
providing access to a broad range of specific ICt 
expertise and offering assistance to organisations that 
wish to ensure a professional ICt infrastructure. all sap 
related activities are grouped under Ctac Consulting. 
Ctac Microsoft contains all Microsoft-related activities, 
including Dynamics and yellow & red’s Microsoft-relat-
ed activities. the activities that cannot be allocated to 
the other three business units, such as the selection and 
recruitment services of persity, are grouped together 
under other.

ctac consulting
this business unit contains all sap-related activities for 
industries and cross-industry solutions.

ctac microsoFt
From this business unit, Ctac is active in the field of Mi-
crosoft CrM solutions for companies in various market 
sectors. Furthermore, the emphasis at present lies on 
the leisure & Hospitality market with the navision CrM 
solution. yellow & red is also active in these proposi-
tions. 
 
ctac managed services
this business unit offers management, hosting and sys-
tem optimisation and is therefore not linked to specific 
market sectors. With Ctac Managed services, we take 
over the management of the systems for the customer. 
Ctac Managed services supports the whole lifecycle of 
systems, so that customers can focus fully on their core 
business. In 2012 we welcomed BDo and Haag Wonen 
as new users of these services.

data centre facilities
Ctac has placed its data centre for the hosting of sap 
and Microsoft services at telecitygroup in amsterdam. 
With this step, Ctac has strengthened its existing host-
ing proposition. In addition, it is possible to develop 
new, advanced cloud services from the new location. 
Ctac is the first to launch two new services: a self-ser-
vice portal and Ctac archiving-as-a-service.

With the self-service portal, a customer can, by simply 
pressing a button, increase or decrease system capacity 
and obtain real-time insight into their own use. Ctac 
archiving-as-a-service is a full-service solution for sap 
archiving and thus forges a link between ICt objectives 
and the continuing, increasing information require-
ments of the user organisation. With this archiving con-
cept, customers can archive carefree and faster and the 
user maintains their existing flexibility where it concerns 
the consulting and analysing of sap data.

other
the activities that cannot be allocated to the other 
three business units, such as the secondment services of 
persity, are grouped together under other. With persity 
resourcing, Ctac is active in the field of the secondment 
of sap consultants. persity search BV is active in the 
field of the recruitment and selection of (sap) profes-
sionals and sales, both for Ctac and for third parties.

Key developments 

new initiatives

optimisation of ctac nederland organisation
Ctac has now bid farewell to the powerhouse business 
model. the management of the organisation has been 
centralised, whereby we have a single person responsi-
ble for all Dutch commercial activities (Mr Michiel ram-
akers, Commercial Director), a single person respon-
sible for the Dutch sap Consulting activities (Mr Willy 
Koppens, Director sap Consulting), and a single person 
responsible for the Managed services and Microsoft 
activities (Ms Carry Block, Director Managed services). 
this has created a closer-knit, more homogeneous or-
ganisation by which Ctac approaches the market with a 
single brand name (Ctac). this means that cross-selling 
opportunities can be better utilised. this integration 
within the organisation translated into improvements 
in our performance in 2012. It goes without saying that 
this has not been at the expense of our focus on our key 
sectors and the products and services in which we have 
become specialised. 

radar team 
Ctac focuses on new innovative ICt solutions on the 
market. the radar team scans the market for innova-
tive developments and investigates to what extent the 
new technological possibilities can help our customers 
achieve their ambitions. If the developments can be 
useful, the activities/products are further developed in 
the so called C-lab. Mr léon van den Bogaert was ap-
pointed Innovation Director as of 19 February 2013. 

report oF tHe 
BoarD oF DIreCtors
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sales strategy
In the context of the changing market circumstances, 
we worked with the Brown paper Company to invest in 
our sales process and the way in which sales must oper-
ate in the current market. 

ccloud2.0

Ctac has launched cCloud2.0, a new cloud concept for 
scalable and flexible computer infrastructures. With 
cCloud2.0 Ctac offers a package of services based on 
Infrastructure-as-a-service (Iaas) and platform-as-a-ser-
vice (paas). the platform distinguishes itself by the fact 
that Ctac translates the cloud concept to the ‘cloud-
aware’ applications. Consequently the advantages of 
cloud can be profited from optimally. 
the new cCloud2.0 platform includes data centre and 
server capacity, operating systems, storage capacity, 
back-up & recovery and archiving. the services are 
available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week on the basis of a 
pay-per-use model. this results in savings for customers 
of as much as 30% compared to traditional use. among 
other things, cCloud2.0 offers a standard framework 
for communication with mobile devices and big data 
solutions. this makes the platform future-proof. the 
first users of cCloud2.0 include aldipress, DtZ property 
Management, Mammoet and nikon europa. 

selection oF new proJects / contracts 

haag wonen
the Hague-based housing association Haag Wonen has 
placed its entire sap environment at Ctac’s data centre. 
With this the organisation has expanded its existing 
cooperation with Ctac. Ctac has been responsible for 
the functional and technical management of the sap 
platform at Haag Wonen since 2010. With the move to 
Ctac Cloud services, hosting is now added to this. the 
sap environment – with sap erp, BI and netWeaver – 
in view of the desired availability and security is run in 
the redundant Ctac data centre and is managed there 
by Ctac’s professionals. 
Haag Wonen has used sap as a central platform for 
supporting its primary processes since 2007. there 
has been an increase in scale in the housing associa-
tion sector over the past years as the result of events 
such as mergers and operations have become more 
professional. the importance of facilitating the growing 
number of customer contacts has also increased. this 
requires, among other things, a professional and flex-
ible It environment with an integrated system for sup-
porting all activities, ranging from (financial) administra-
tion, work-flow management and CrM applications to 
property management, daily maintenance and project 
development. Ctac worked with the sector to develop 
the CHare system, a certified sap Business all-in-one 
template for the housing association and property 
market. 

tear
tear, a Christian aid organisation that fights poverty and 
injustice, uses Ctac Charity, the industry-specific total 
solution launched by Ctac for charitable organisations. 
the software has been implemented and ensures that 
tear can optimise its business processes, has insight 
into all financial flows at the organisation, and can make 
clearly organised reports of all activities. the software is 
based on Microsoft Dynamics naV and CrM.

Ferney group 
at the Ferney group, stock differences and order pick-
ing errors decreased demonstrably after the implemen-
tation of rF (radio Frequency) communication for the 
logistics process. Ferney group is the largest Dutch 
purchasing combination in the field of builder’s finish 
hardware, machines, tools and metal hardware for the 
construction industry.
Ctac assisted Ferney in choosing the rF platform. Ctac 
also took care of integrating rF in the existing sap 
environment. Ferney now profits from a more efficient 
logistics process with more insight into the progress of 
order picking and processing of goods receipt. since 
the beginning of 2011 the wholesale trade has been 
working with the sap wholesale trade solution from 
Ctac Wholesale & Manufacturing (formerly myuice), 
a business unit of Ctac. 

de slegte - selexyz
Ctac integrated the activities of selexyz’s sixteen book-
shops into the sap retail system of bookseller chain De 
slegte in a matter of three weeks. Investment company 
proCures, part owner of De slegte, took over the six-
teen selexyz locations after the bankruptcy of selexyz’s 
head office.
In order to guarantee the continuity of the selexyz 
shops, De slegte asked Ctac to include the processes 
of the acquired shops into its own sap retail system 
as quickly as possible. Ctac has provided various sap 
services to De slegte for some time. the retail chain 
has used sap as a central erp system for its purchasing, 
logistics and finances since 2005.

dela vastgoed
Dela Vastgoed, a division of insurance company Dela 
natura uitvaartverzekeringen n.V., has started imple-
mentation of the CHare sap solution from Ctac and 
Ctac partner avecres. CHare is an sap based software 
solution for property organisations developed jointly 
by Ctac and avecres. this solution enables integrated 
management of all facets of property management. the 
platform supports, among others, redex (real estate 
Data exchange), rems aFr and various other digital 
exchange formats. this allows property organisations 
to share information with all relevant parties in the prop-
erty industry in a standardised manner. Dela Vastgoed 
opted for the cloud version of CHare. 

plan nederland
plan nederland has started using Ctac Charity, Ctac’s 
new total solution for charitable organisations. as 
such, the organisation profits from software based on 
Microsoft Dynamics naV and CrM. the total package 
offers charitable organisations a transparent solution 
for optimising business processes, insight into funding 
flows and clearly organised reports. 

since charitable organisations are financed by exter-
nal parties, they are required to submit details of their 
expenditures to both internal and external parties. Ctac 
Charity provides full functionality for this and presents 
an accurate picture of the finances. It does this from a 
number of different angles, for example per sponsor 
or donor, per project, or sub-project. It is also possible 
to link sponsors to projects on a one-to-one basis. For 
instance, plan nederland can link a donor exclusively 
to one child. the communication takes place largely 
via automated workflow rules such as the sending of 
(general) newsletters to sponsors or news stories about 
the project progress. 

mammoet
Mammoet uses Ctac’s retail solution xV retail for all its 
merchandising activities. xV retail is a complete and 
flexible software solution for optimal support of multi-
channel retail processes. the system provides, among 
other things, sales register functionality, stock manage-
ment, support for online sales and goods administra-
tion. xV retail also uses a standard link with sap eCC.

Mammoet is known worldwide as a specialist in heavy 
lifting equipment and combined transport. the com-
pany was in the spotlight during the salvage of the rus-
sian nuclear submarine the Koersk in 2001. since then 
the demand for products with a Mammoet logo has 
increased significantly, which resulted in the founding 
in 2003 of Mammoet Merchandise BV, which is divided 
into Mammoet store and Mammoet Workwear.

bruynzeel keukens
Ctac has implemented Microsoft CrM online at 
Bruynzeel Keukens. the kitchen specialist uses this CrM 
cloud service to route online customer requests to one 
of its forty shops. the use of CrM online streamlines 
the process from application through to follow-up, 
which improves customer service. With the solution 
from Ctac and Microsoft, Bruynzeel Keukens has a 
powerful tool for following up on leads. the kitchen 
specialist is one of the first Dutch parties to make large-
scale use of Microsoft CrM online.
Consumers who request a catalogue or appointment 
via the website of Bruynzeel Keukens enter their contact 
details. Microsoft CrM online automatically routes this 
request to the closest Bruynzeel location. an employee 
at this location follows up on the request by sending the 
catalogue or contacting the particular consumer. the 

action taken can be monitored in the system. the head 
office of Bruynzeel Keukens has a central overview of 
the leads and the status of each.

dtZ Zadelhoff
DtZ Zadelhoff property Management has started a col-
laboration with Ctac and avecres bv to realise a new erp 
environment. the organisation hopes this will optimise its 
work processes, strengthen communication with tenants 
and principals and provide better access to its manage-
ment information. 
the chosen solution is CHare, an sap based software 
solution for property organisations. this environment 
enables integrated management of all facets of property 
management. the new platform supports redex (real 
estate Data exchange), rems aFr and various other 
electronic exchange programs. the aim of this technol-
ogy is to exchange information among all the relevant 
parties in the property sector in a standardised manner.

collaboration agreements 

brown paper company 
In the context of the changing market circumstances, 
Ctac has invested in the sales process and the way in 
which sales must operate in the current market. to-
gether with the Brown paper Company, a set of instru-
ments and a strategy have been developed on the basis 
of which our sales executives can operate in the market 
in a better way than before. In line with this, we have 
set up an internal sales organisation that can design the 
lead generation process in close cooperation with the 
sales organisation. 

“  it is ctac's ambition 
to develop durable 
composed ict 
solutions For its 
customers.”
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partnerships and certiFications 

Quality management
Ctac has been accredited by sap for its active quality 
management, clear standards and clear processes. the 
accreditation is given by the sap active Quality Man-
agement organisation. By cooperating closely with sap, 
Ctac ensures that customer projects are completed on 
time and within budget. 
sap launched a new worldwide quality accredita-
tion programme for value-added resellers (Vars) who 
focus on sap Business all-in-one solutions and on 
participants in the sap extended Business program. 
sap grants the accreditation to channel partners who 
demonstrate that they implement an active quality 
programme for sales and delivery. as certified member 
of this programme, Ctac is able to help sap customers 
prevent escalations, stimulate profitability and improve 
project management during the programme life cycle. 
the programme also offers a quality approach for sales 
processes and implementation methods by providing 
access to sap templates and processes. 

sap partner award
Ctac has been recognised for the tenth time by sap 
with a partner award. the company received the sap 
Business all-in-one partner award 2012 during the 
annual sap partner award event on 30 January 2013. 
every year sap gives the Business all-in-one partner 
award to the channel partner that has been the most 
successful in the past year with the sap Business all-in-
one solution for small and medium-sized enterprises. 

sap excellent hosting partner 
sap nederland awarded Ctac the highest possible 
certification for hosting once again in 2012 when the 
company was granted the status of sap excellent Host-
ing partner. Ctac is the only Dutch sap partner that has 
received this excellent certification from the Dutch sap 
organisation. Ctac has been providing sap hosting and 
management services since 1995. In 2012, Ctac made 
extra investments in further improving the quality of 
these services, further tightened the internal processes 
and also worked on the further virtualisation of its data 
centre. this resulted in Ctac's status being upgraded to 
sap excellent Hosting partner after the audit.

ctac education
the Hogeschool sDo (stichting Deeltijd opleidin-
gen) has granted the sap Financials course from 
Ctac education the level of HBo (higher professional 
education). Ctac is the first educator to have its sap 
course assessed. the Ctac course at Hogeschool sDo 
gives graduates not only an sap certification, but also a 
certificate of the HBo level. this represents important 
added value for both participants and employers.

computable partner of the year award 2012
the implementation by Ctac, readsoft and avecres of a 
new erp environment at DtZ Zadelhoff property Man-
agement was nominated for the Computable partner of 
the year award 2012. 
With this distinction the ICt trade journal calls attention 
to appealing ICt projects on which a number of part-
ners have successfully cooperated. the Computable 
editorial team nominated a total of ten projects. the 
award ceremony took place on 4 october 2012 during 
the annual Computable awards gala.

isae 3402
on March 20th, 2013, Deloitte risk services B.V. issued 
an Independent service auditor’s report following a 
study into the design, implementation and operation, 
as well as the functioning of the organisation, of the 
sap Hosting services provided by Ctac. this report 
concerns the Isae 3402 certification (assurance report 
on Controls at a service organisation) and gave Ctac an 
unconditional approval. 

Financial developments

turnover and gross margin
the net turnover in 2012 amounted to eur 79.9 million, 
which represents a 9.4% increase compared to the 
turnover in 2011 (eur 73.0 million). 

turnover from consultancy rose from eur 57.3 million 
in 2011 to eur 60.2 million in 2012, an increase of 5.1%. 
partly because of the challenging market circumstances 
and the greater share of external hiring out, the gross 
margin achieved on this activity declined slightly by eur 
0.4 million to eur 46.8 million, or 0.8%.

turnover from software rose from eur 4.1 million in 
2011 to eur 6.9 million in 2012, an increase of 67.6%. 
For this activity as well there was a decline in the gross 
margin percentage, however, which was compensated 
by the indicated growth in turnover. the gross margin 
ultimately rose by eur 0.9 million from eur 1.8 million 
in 2011 to eur 2.7 million in 2012. 

the turnover from maintenance contracts rose from 
eur 5.9 million in 2011 to eur 6.3 million in 2012, which 
caused the gross margin on this activity to increase 
slightly by eur 0.1 million to eur 2.6 million. 

the turnover per employee (based on the average 
number of Ftes on an annual basis) rose in 2012 to eur 
178,300 (2011: eur 154,600). this was due to, among 
other things, the reduced number of employees and 
the higher turnover.

expenses 
personnel costs decreased in 2012 on balance by eur 
0.4 million, or 1.0% compared to the previous year. It 
must be remembered that restructuring costs of eur 
1.2 million were taken into account in 2011. elimination 
of this effect results in an increase in the total personnel 
costs by eur 0.8 million, primarily due to higher pen-
sion costs and profit-related bonuses.

the average number of Ftes fell from 472 in 2011 to 
448 in 2012. the sale of Meridian It and Healthcare 
accounted for 12 Ftes in this decline. the effect of the 
reorganisation started at the end of 2011 is also visible.

other operating expenses declined by eur 0.9 million, 
or 6.7%, to eur 12.9 million (2011: eur 13.8 million). 
this decline was the result of a decrease in all types of 
other operating expenses. It must be taken into account 
here that as a result of the policy to operationally lease 
hardware, a shift took place from (lower) depreciation 
costs to (higher) other operating costs. 

Depreciation charges decreased from eur 2.4 million 
in 2011 to eur 1.5 million in 2012. the depreciation 
charges relating to tangible fixed assets decreased 
mainly as the result of bringing the hardware into an 
operational lease. 

operating result 
the operating result for 2012 was eur 2.0 million. Cor-
rected for the (non-cash) impairment of goodwill (eur 
11.5 million) and the one-off restructuring costs (eur 1.2 
million), the operating result in 2011 amounted to eur 0 
million. as already indicated, eur 1.0 million of the 
eur 2.0 million increase in the operating result in 2012 
as compared to 2011 can be attributed to the higher 
gross margin, the other eur 1.0 million is due to lower 
operating expenses.

Turnover by unit and by segment    2012 2011 %
(in eur x 1,000)

The Netherlands     
Ctac Managed services    21,942 18,976 16%
Ctac sap Consulting     32,940 31,048 6%
Ctac Microsoft     5,273 4,244 24%
other     3,028 1,236 145%
Intercompany other     2,669 3,011 
Total The Netherlands    65,852 58,515 13%
   
Belgium     15,836 15,440 3%
other activities      3,003 3,117 (4%)
elimination of intercompany turnover    (4,830) (4,089) 
Total     79.861 72,983 9%

26   CtaC annual report 2012 27



report oF tHe BoarD oF DIreCtors

at eur 0.8 million, the underlying operating result in 
the fourth quarter of 2012 was higher than in the fourth 
quarter of 2011 (eur 0.6 million) and was in line with the 
gradual improvement of the underlying results as this 
became visible throughout 2012. 
 
interest expenses
the net bank debt decreased from eur 6.1 million to 
eur 4.5 million in 2012. the related interest expense 
consequently decreased from eur 0.4 million in 2011 to 
eur 0.2 million in 2012.

the addition to the earn-out obligations also included 
in this item rose on the other hand from eur 0.1 million 
in 2011 to eur 0.7 million in 2012. 

Including the income on participating interests in 2012 
in the amount of eur 0.1 million, the above resulted in 
an expense of eur 0.9 million in 2012 compared to an 
expense of eur 0.5 million in 2011.

taxes
the tax burden was 35.7% in 2012. the tax burden was 
just 3.3% in 2011. this is mainly due to the non-tax-
deductible impairment of goodwill. 

net result and result per share 
the net result in 2012 amounted to eur 0.8 million 
compared to a net loss of eur 12.7 million in 2011. 
this translates into a result per outstanding weighted 
average ordinary share of eur 0.07 based on 11,731,147 
shares. the number of outstanding ordinary shares on 
31 December 2012 amounted to 11,771,586.

balance sheet structure
Mainly as the result of the addition of the net result for 
2012 in the amount of eur 0.8 million, the shareholders’ 
equity increased to eur 7.0 million. 

the trade receivables and other receivables increased 
by approximately eur 3.0 million as of year-end 2012 
due to substantial software sales in December 2012. 
the balance sheet total increased by eur 2.5 million 
from eur 37.4 million at year-end 2011 to eur 39.9 mil-
lion at year-end 2012.

the solvency (shareholders’ equity/total assets) 
improved from 16.3% at year-end 2011 to 17.5% at year-
end 2012.

thanks to active working capital management, the net 
bank debt decreased from eur 6.1 million at year-end 
2011 to eur 4.5 million at year-end 2012. the facility 
agreed with aBn aMro Bank was eur 9.5 million at 
year-end 2012. a pledge right on receivables, company 
equipment and Ip rights has been granted as security. 

cash flow and investments
the cash flow from operations amounted to eur 4.4 
million positive in 2012 (2011: eur 1.6 million positive). 
the increase is mainly the result of a positive develop-
ment of the working capital due to a more effective 
invoicing process and improved debtor management.
 
eur 2.7 million was invested in tangible fixed assets in 
2012 (2011: eur 0.7 million). eur 1.2 million of this was 
included in a sales and lease-back transaction with a 
specialised lease company. the investments consisted 
mainly of the replacement of ICt infrastructure and new 
computers and investments in the new office building 
which was taken into use in the spring of 2012. the 
cash flow from financing activities mainly involved the 
payment of earn-out obligations in the amount of eur 
0.5 million (2011: eur 2.1 million). the net cash flow 
amounted to eur 1.6 million positive in 2012 (2011: eur 
2.1 million negative).

proposal for incorporation of result
after considering the impact on shareholders’ equity 
and other balance sheet components, it is proposed to 
the general Meeting of shareholders that no dividend 
be paid out for the 2012 financial year and that the 
result be added in its entirety to the other reserves, 
recognised under shareholders’ equity.

changes in the composition oF the  
board oF directors
During the general Meeting of shareholders on 16 May 
2012, the proposal for the appointment of Mr Douwe 
van der Werf as CFo and member of the Board of Di-
rectors was approved. the supervisory Board decided 
that the tasks of the CIo will continue to be divided 
between the two members of the Board of Directors; 
therefore the board will continue to consist of two 
members. 

personnel developments

employees at the centre
employees are the most important company assets for 
an It solution provider such as Ctac. Ctac can only grow 
because of its employees. the theme of the strategy 
more clearly defined during the year is ‘enabling ambi-
tions’. an important part of this is that we enable our 
employees to realise their ambitions in Ctac. Ctac's 
Human resources (Hr) policy aims therefore to create 
a working climate in which there is room for growth, 
development and new challenges. Integrity, loyalty, 
respect, openness, commitment and entrepreneurship 
are core values. 

Ctac invests in its employees and offers them the op-
portunity to develop. Ctac does this via personal devel-
opment plans that are drawn up at the beginning of the 
year. the company's objectives and the ambitions of 
the employee are used as input. 

Development projects take place in technical areas, but 
also in the field of personal and management skills. as 
Ctac is active in many branches of ICt, there is ample 
opportunity for growth and development. this is an 
essential part of Ctac's Hr policy; the balance between 
work and personal life is also given a lot of attention. In 
2012 Ctac also implemented the new salary plan and 
functionhouse. 

employee satisFaction survey (mbo):
Ctac believes it is very important to constantly monitor 
and improve the job satisfaction of every employee. 
the success of our organisation is mainly determined by 
the satisfaction and commitment of the employees in 
the organisation.

the fifth employee satisfaction survey took place in 
the netherlands at the end of 2012. the survey was 
conducted by the independent research agency effec-
tory. the response was somewhat lower than in 2011, 
but still adequately significant. the results show that 
the general satisfaction within Ctac decreased by 0.2 in 
2012 from a score of 6.9 to a score of 6.7. It should be 
noted here that the ICt-benchmark indicates a decrease 
of 0.4.
 
the 2012 survey shows, among other things, that em-
ployees are positive about the nature of their work, the 
career possibilities, the relationship with their supervi-
sors, the collaboration within the business unit, the chal-
lenges in their jobs and the room for own initiatives. 

the most important points for improvement that came 
to the fore in the 2012 survey were that the collabo-
ration between the various business units could be 
further improved as well as the communication about, 
in particular, the objectives. the survey also shows that 

the balance between home and personal life could be 
further optimised and employees are of the opinion 
that their remuneration could be improved. of course, 
the outcomes of the 2012 survey differ per business 
unit. the outcomes were evaluated and improvement 
plans have been drawn up per business unit. the im-
provement plans will be monitored by the Management 
team. 

diversity
the ICt sector is by nature a world that has a greater ap-
peal to men than to women. approximately 20% of the 
employees at Ctac are female. Ctac considers diversity 
to be important within the company; however, quality 
and motivation will always be the guiding factors when 
recruiting new people. Ctac seeks to increase its diver-
sity by means of offering certain employment conditions, 
such as working part-time, flexible working hours, educa-
tion and internal career opportunities. 

absenteeism due to illness 
Ctac pursues an active policy to prevent lengthy absen-
teeism by providing information on recognising the first 
symptoms of illness and on possible (prevention) meth-
ods. In this way, Ctac tries to reduce the absenteeism 
due to illness. In 2012 absenteeism due to illness rose 
slightly to 4.3% as the result of a number of employees 
being sick for a longer period of time (2011: 3.2%).

scarcity on the labour market 
When the economy recovers, the first signs of scarcity 
on the labour market will become visible again. By 
absorbing the earlier decrease in demand by reducing 
the hiring in of external staff, Ctac has been able to 
safeguard the position of its own in-house professionals 
and it will have a good starting position for when the 
market recovers. 

employee participation in decision making
elections were held for the works council at the end of 
2012. the works council comprises eight people. Inten-
sive contact is maintained with the works council and 
the positive contribution from this council to choosing a 
new pension insurer is worthy of mention here. 

the works council met with the Board of Directors a 
number of times in 2012, whereby a member of the 
supervisory Board attended one of the meetings. 
recurring agenda items in these meetings are market 
and result developments. specific subjects that were 
discussed in 2012 were: Ctac's strategy 2012-2015, 
the necessary measures to mitigate the effects of the 
lower demand for ICt projects, and the possibilities for 
improving Ctac's market position. the works council 
provided advice and/or consent with regard to various 
matters.
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the footprint consists of three parts, the so-called scopes:

scope 1
this concerns the direct Co2 emissions, therefore emis-
sions produced by the company’s own organisation, 
such as own gas consumption, and emissions produced 
by the own fleet of cars.

scope 2
these are the indirect emissions, i.e. the emissions that 
are produced when generating the electricity that is 
consumed by the organisation, such as the emissions 
produced by power plants that supply this electricity. In 
addition, business trips by plane and business trips with 
private cars also belong to scope 2.

scope 3
these are the other indirect emissions, emissions that 
are a consequence of the company but are generated 
by sources that are not owned or managed by the 
company. examples are emissions produced by the 
production of purchased materials and the processing 
of waste and the use by the company of offered/sold 
work, services or delivery. In addition, business trips 
using public transport and commuting also belong to 
scope 3.

Ctac’s total emissions in the 2012 calendar year 
amounted to 2,334 tons of Co2. this is a decrease in 
the Co2 footprint by almost 55% compared to the 2011 
calendar year. 

the majority of the Co2 emissions (77%) are still caused 
by the fuel consumption of the fleet. since natural gas 
is no longer used in the office building for heating, the 
Co2 emissions corresponding to this have already been 
almost halved compared to 2011. 

risk proFile and risk management

risk attitude
In general, the Board of Directors strives to limit risks to 
a minimum and not to enter into any substantial risks 
without being able to control these risks.

general
Ctac's long-term strategy is directed at the continuity of 
the company and value creation for all stakeholders by 
means of growth and a positive development of profit-
ability. When carrying out this strategy, Ctac is confront-
ed with various risks. risks of a strategic, operational 
or financial nature, but also risks in connection with the 
market in which Ctac operates. It is the responsibility of 
the Board of Directors to identify risks and to minimise 
risks by taking appropriate measures. Ctac gives a high 
priority to internal control. the internal control is con-
stantly evaluated and further professionalised.

the risk management system analyses the risks and 
periodically measures the effectiveness of the measures 
as these apply to all business processes within Ctac. 
risk management is an integral part of the planning 
and control cycle. this system includes determining the 
strategy and the budget. the Board of Directors is re-
sponsible for this. the strategy is discussed extensively 
with the supervisory Board every year. strategic objec-
tives are translated into business plans and budgets 
together with the directors of the various business units. 
the business plan contains both a financial budget and 
a number of concrete business objectives per business 
unit that are translated into Key performance Indica-
tors (KpIs), which are measured consistently during the 
year as to progress. Important KpIs at Ctac include the 
capacity utilisation rate, prices, number of direct and 
indirect Ftes and efficiency of the processes. the Board 
of Directors of Ctac assesses the capacity utilisation rate 
every week. the results per business unit are compared 
by the Board of Directors and the directors of the 
various business units with the results of the previous 
year and the budgets for this year (if necessary, further 
actions are defined). once every quarter, the Board of 
Directors and the responsible directors evaluate the 
operational and financial performance of each business 
unit and adjust the expectations for the particular busi-
ness unit, if necessary. standardised working processes, 
procedures and information systems are used at Ctac. 
responsibilities, authorities, the segregation of func-
tions, guidelines, procedures and processes have been 
laid down within Ctac in a clear and accessible manner 
in the C-work guide. the most important processes at 
Ctac are elaborated in this computerised tool.

By means of a constant process of internal controls and 
measurements, Ctac provides for an optimal as possible 
monitoring and timely identification and, if necessary, 
mitigation of risks that arise. this risk management 
system with its control mechanisms and mitigating 
measures is a periodically recurring item on the agenda 
of the supervisory Board. additionally, as part of the 
annual external financial audit, the administrative or-
ganisation and internal controls are reviewed in terms of 
design, implementation and operation.

this risk management system with its control mecha-
nisms and mitigating measures is a periodically recur-
ring item on the agenda of the supervisory Board. ad-
ditionally, as part of the annual external financial audit, 
the administrative organisation and internal controls 
are reviewed in terms of design, implementation and 
operation.

Ctac worked on the further optimisation of risk manage-
ment and internal control systems in 2012. Ctac is aware 
that such systems do not offer absolute certainty that 
no material errors can occur.

corporate social responsibility within ctac
the long-term vision and continuity of the organisa-
tion are the most important points regarding corporate 
social responsibility within Ctac. In addition, there is 
a clear awareness within the ICt market regarding 
sustainable business practices. the scarcity of natu-
ral resources and the exhaustibility of fossil fuels also 
have an impact on the sector. For instance, the Dutch 
government strives to purchase all of its products and 
services in a sustainable manner, including the procure-
ment of ICt services. Ctac subscribes to the importance 
of sustainability in the provision of services both to its 
customers and to society in general.

therefore, a project was started in mid-2010 aimed 
at further entrenching sustainability in Ctac’s business 
operations and services. the project is divided into 
four parts whereby first an organisation scan regarding 
sustainability was performed. this was the starting point 
whereby the most important information regarding Ctac 
and sustainability was collected, analysed and interpret-
ed. subsequently, an environment scan was performed 
to draw up an inventory of the trends in the field of sus-
tainability in the ICt sector. the third phase consisted 
of making an inventory of the energy consumption and 
preparing a Carbon Footprint report. 
using the outcome of this project, a sustainability 
programme was then drawn up in 2011; implementation 
of this programme started in 2012. the programme is 
based on the three ps of corporate social responsibility 
(people, planet, profit). this comprehensive approach 
enabled Ctac to achieve progress in the area of sustain-
ability, socially and societally as well as economically. 

For the p of people, the Dna (the new approach) 
programme is aimed at realising further flexibility of 
working hours and working environment. as a result, 
Ctac distinguishes itself as good employer both for its 
existing and its future employees.
 
For the p of planet, an energy and environment man-
agement system is being set up. For the reduction of 
the energy consumption, Ctac is examining whether it 
can endorse the targets that have been laid down in 
the long-term agreements (MJa’s) for the ICt sector. a 
project for the certification of the environment manage-
ment system in accordance with the Iso 14001 standard 
will be started in order to reduce pressure on the 
environment. the Carbon Footprint report shows that 
the majority of the Co2 emissions are caused by the fuel 
consumption of the leased cars. In order to reduce this, 
a mobility plan has been drawn up with the aim of real-
ising a reduction of 25% by the end of 2014 compared 
to the end of 2011.

For the p of profit, products and services are being de-
veloped whereby the focus lies on sustainability. these 
products will realise savings for our customers in terms 

of energy, waste and Co2 emissions. to this end, we will 
work together with customers, suppliers and business 
partners on innovative projects, in order to contribute 
to a healthier environment.

sustainability at ctac
Corporate social responsibility is on the agenda at 
many ICt companies these days. Ctac recognises the 
urgency of doing business sustainably (MVo) and is 
hard at work on this topic. after all, Ctac’s services have 
an impact on humans, society and the planet. Ctac en-
sures that the processes cause the most positive impact 
and that the negative effects are limited as much as 
possible. 

the sustainability plans started in 2010 were continued 
in 2012 as well. Ctac worked actively to reduce its Co2 
footprint. two major steps were taken in this regard in 
2012. Firstly, the new sustainable and energy-efficient 
head office in ’s-Hertogenbosch was taken into use dur-
ing the year. Co2 emissions caused by the company’s 
office accommodation therefore decreased in 2012. 
this was partly due to the use of a sustainable heating 
and cooling system which uses the temperature of the 
earth, therefore making natural gas no longer neces-
sary. the second step in reducing the Co2 footprint 
was moving the data centre in ’s-Hertogenbosch to an 
external, more energy-efficient data centre at telecity-
group in amsterdam. this not only reduces the energy 
consumption of Ctac itself, its customers too will enjoy 
the benefits. 

Moving into the new head office not only resulted in 
lower Co2 emissions as the result of more energy-
efficient building installations, this move also further op-
timised the new Way of Working at Ctac, meaning that 
fewer kilometres had to be driven by Ctac employees. 
together with an increase in the percentage of cleaner 
lease cars, this resulted in a significant reduction in the 
Co2 emissions from Ctac’s fleet. as such progress was 
made towards realising the objective of reducing fuel 
consumption by 25% in 2014 compared to 2010. 

Ctac is a party to the Bossche energy agreement and 
as part of that programme works towards realising the 
objective of saving at least 10% on energy consump-
tion and/or generating at least this amount sustainably, 
by the end of 2013. Moving into the new head office of 
course made an important contribution towards this. 

carbon Footprint ctac 2012
Ctac has determined its Carbon Footprint for 2012 as 
well. this footprint is based on the international stand-
ard Iso 14064 and the green House gas (gHg) proto-
col. the energy and fuel consumption at the company’s 
different locations, the company’s resources and its 
employees are all taken into account in the calculation 
of the Co2 footprint. 
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pect of quality management. providing services in ac-
cordance with the nen/Iso norm 27001 is embedded 
in the organisation as a regular process. an important 
requirement is constantly working on the measuring 
and reporting of the effectiveness and efficiency of 
the implemented measures. this is regularly evaluated 
via an audit by external parties as well as by means of 
an internal audit process with regard to effectiveness, 
suitability and correspondence with the agreed norm. 
no critical findings have come to light in the various 
audits.

Conclusion
Based on the evaluations carried out, the Board of 
Directors concludes that the risk management system 
as well as the control of the business processes and the 
internal control within Ctac are sufficiently professional, 
appropriate and effective. 
the Board of Directors is of the opinion that the risk 
management system with its control and measurements 
offers a sufficient degree of certainty regarding the 
reliability of the financial information and management 
information generated by this system and is in accord-
ance with the relevant laws and regulations. 

Outlook 
Because of the persistent challenging economic circum-
stances, the willingness of customers to invest in ICt 
projects is, in general, still relatively low at present. We 
expect that these circumstances will continue until at 
least the fourth quarter of 2013. 

Because of the relatively good market positioning and 
proven strategy, Ctac will look to continuing the upward 
trend in its turnover and result in 2013. However, in this 
context, it should be pointed out that Ctac’s current 
vulnerability to external circumstances must not be lost 
sight of.

A word of thanks
the Board of Directors looks back on 2012 as a year 
of major and necessary changes. In combination with 
the uncertain market circumstances, this required great 
commitment and flexibility from employees. For this 
reason they are owed a great deal of thanks.

’s-Hertogenbosch, 21 March 2013

The Board of Directors

De heer H.L.J. Hilgerdenaar (CEO)
De heer D.G.H. van der Werf (CFO)

the following important elements can be distinguished 
in Ctac's system of risk management and control:
- strategic risks / market risks;
- financial risks;
- operational risks. 
 
the sections below outline the most relevant risks with 
which Ctac is confronted at present. risks that have not 
been identified at present or that are not considered to 
be material are not included below. 

strategic risks / market risks
•  The developments in the market in which Ctac is 

active take place quickly. there is a risk that Ctac 
is insufficiently able to be innovative. In order to 
avoid this, Ctac seeks to maintain a leading position, 
together with the customer, in improving the cus-
tomer's processes. In this way Ctac is able to develop 
ICt solutions in as adequate a manner as possible. 
the increasing desire of customers to enter into a 
fully-fledged partnership continues to be manifest. 
Being able to count on each other in difficult times 
remains very valuable. organisations depend on 
optimally functioning ICt systems to support their 
business processes. Consequently, customers want a 
one-stop-shop solution, offering in-depth knowledge 
of the vertical market in combination with a broad 
range of solutions. Because of the mature market 
for ICt services in combination with less favourable 
economic circumstances, there is pressure on prices 
and margins. therefore it is even more important to 
make clear strategic choices regarding the strategic 
positioning, as indicated in the report of the Board of 
Directors.

•  The year 2012 was a difficult year for the ICT sector 
and therefore also for Ctac, in which the willingness to 
invest in ICt projects remained low in general due to 
the uncertain economic conditions. In connection with 
this, our strategy was defined more clearly already at 
the end of 2011. this also means that we assessed all 
of our activities more critically with regard to profit-
ability and cash-generating ability. the disposal of 
business activities that have insufficient potential to 
satisfy the profitability requirements within a reason-
able period of time or that are no longer in line with 
Ctac's strategy is one of the possibilities in this case. 
Ctac aims to realise approximately 50% of its total an-
nual turnover from long-term management and host-
ing contracts and from the daily services demanded 
by our existing customer base. this percentage is now 
slightly around 40%. Ctac services approximately six 
hundred customers. By means of a broad diversifica-
tion of customers over various sectors and a broad 
exposure to larger customers, Ctac minimises the 
downward risk in respect of the turnover. 

•  Ctac has attempted to limit the consequences of the 
lower demand for ICt services and projects by making 
efficient and flexible use of its own employees and by 

reducing the hiring of external staff or outsourcing to 
a minimum.

Financial risks 
•  Ctac is subject to a number of financial risks, such as 

market risk (interest-rate risk and currency risk), credit 
risk, liquidity risk and capital risk. a detailed descrip-
tion of these financial risks and the management of 
these risks can be found under item 4 in the financial 
statements. Ctac aims to identify these risks in a 
timely manner.

operational risks
•  Project and assignment control: one of the most 

important pillars for Ctac is carrying out projects and 
assignments. this pillar has its origin in the customer's 
increasingly large and complex demand for new 
products and services. the quality of the execution of 
these projects and assignments can have an important 
influence on the performance and results of Ctac. In 
order to minimise the risks in connection with this, 
an optimally functioning internal quality and control 
system is essential. Ctac has positioned its risk man-
agement system separately in its organisation in order 
to be able to identify and mitigate risks as adequately 
as possible. Where a direct and complete influence of 
a risk on the result to be achieved can be attributed 
to Ctac, Ctac will of course assume this responsibil-
ity. Ctac can bear this responsibility completely as it 
has management with the right breadth and depth of 
competencies and business and ICt knowledge.

•  In order to ensure the continuity in the event of 
claims, Ctac has general and professional liability 
insurance. Ctac has never submitted a claim under 
these insurance policies.

•  Acquisitions: In the event Ctac acquires companies, 
its ultimate objective is to integrate these companies 
within the Ctac organisation. It is important that the 
integration process is successful in order to keep the 
undesired outflow of staff to a minimum. 

•  Labour market: employees are the company’s most 
important assets for an ICt solution provider such as 
Ctac. Ctac can only grow because of its employees. 
Ctac's Human resources (Hr) policy aims therefore 
to create a working climate in which there is room for 
growth, development and new challenges. scarcity on 
the labour market can curb growth in ICt knowledge 
or absolute growth. the retention and recruitment of 
skilled personnel is an important objective and will 
remain a prime focus in the coming years together 
with recruiting talented employees. 

•  Quality management: if Ctac is not able to deliver the 
agreed quality, Ctac runs the risk that performance 
and results are not or partially not achieved. Conse-
quently, quality management is an important pillar 
for the organisation. Ctac is constantly working on 
improving the services that it provides to customers in 
whatever form. Information security is an important as-
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CoMplIanCe WItH tHe  
DutCH Corporate  
goVernanCe CoDe

In principle, the Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors, which are jointly responsible for 
Ctac’s corporate governance structure, subscribe to and apply the principles and best practices 
laid down in the Dutch Corporate Governance Code. Ctac only departs from this Code on 
a limited number of points (the numbers in brackets refer to the relevant provisions of the 
Corporate Governance Code).
 

•  The present members of the Board of Directors 
have not been appointed for a fixed term (II 1.1). 
the board members act on the basis of a strategic 
long-term perspective; limiting the term of appoint-
ment would not be in accordance with this long-term 
perspective. 

•  A possible compensation payable upon the dismissal 
of Mr Hilgerdenaar has not been laid down in a 
contract and therefore this has not been maximised 
(II.2.8). as compensation in the event of involuntary 
dismissal as referred to in the above-mentioned best 
practice provision, a compensation shall be paid 
that is deemed reasonable based on the contractual 
relationship, social developments and case law. the 
compensation in case of dismissal for Mr Van der 
Werf has indeed been maximised in accordance with 
the provisions of the Code.

•  The remuneration of the Board of Directors is speci-
fied in the financial statements as part of the annual 
report (II.2.14). the annual report is published on the 
website; the remuneration policy, which has been 
approved by the general Meeting of shareholders, is 
also published on the website. the supervisory Board 
has determined the remuneration of the individual 
members of the Board of Directors based on the 
remuneration policy.

•  Ctac has not appointed a secretary for the Board of 
Directors, as this position does not fit in with its man-
agement structure (III.4.3). Ctac fills in this position in 
a different manner than prescribed by the Code. 

•  The members of the Board of Directors are ap-
pointed by the general Meeting of shareholders 
from a binding nomination of at least two persons for 
each vacancy, made by the priority Foundation. the 
general Meeting of shareholders is free to appoint 
board members if no binding nomination has been 
made within the term stipulated in the articles of 
association. In derogation of the Code (IV.1.1), the 
general Meeting of shareholders may resolve that 
the nomination is not binding by means of a resolu-
tion adopted by a majority of at least two thirds of 
the votes cast representing more than half of the 
subscribed share capital. 

•  Ctac has decided not to make use of webcams and/or 
other technical devices to enable third parties to fol-
low analyst meetings and other meetings, and share-
holders to participate in meetings (IV3.1). However, 
the presentations that Ctac gives to these groups are 
made available to everyone via the website.

Detailed information about Ctac’s Corporate govern-
ance can be found on Ctac’s website (www.ctac.nl) 
under Investor relations, Corporate governance.

The Corporate Governance Code  
Monitoring Committee 
In December 2008, the former Corporate  governance 
Code Monitoring Committee (Frijns Committee) 
presented an updated code, hereafter referred to as: 
‘Code 2008’. By order in Council of 10 December 2009, 
the Minister of Justice designated the Code 2008 as the 
new code of conduct thereby replacing the previous 
Corporate governance Code from 2003, which had 
been designated as the code of conduct in 2004. the 
Code 2008 applies to the financial years commencing 
on or after 1 January 2009.

as of 2 July 2009, the Minister of Finance, also on behalf 
of the Minister of economic affairs and the Minister of 
Justice, appointed a new Corporate governance Code 
Monitoring Committee (streppel Committee).

In its fourth evaluation report of December 2012 the 
streppel Committee set down the results of its investiga-
tion into general compliance with the Code, the role of 
the shareholders and the supervisory board. the strep-
pel Committee also researched a number of  specific 
topics, one of which was the need to introduce a sepa-
rate subcommittee for Corporate social responsibility 
(Csr) in the supervisory board. the streppel Committee 
also provided clarification on the Code’s  applicability 
to non-executive directors in a one-tier board structure. 
the streppel Committee concluded that the compliance 
with the Code was unabatedly high in the fi nancial year 
2011. the quality of the explanation if a provision is not 
complied with, is still a point for attention however. the 
streppel Committee also concluded that the quality of 
the reports from the supervisory board has improved 
and also that attention to consultation for the general 
Meeting of shareholders is growing. 

Management and Supervision (Public and  
Private Companies) Act
this law took effect on 1 January 2013. the key topics 
for which the Management and supervision (public and 
private Companies) act provides are:
•  a legal basis for the ‘one-tier board’;
•  a cap on the number of supervisory functions that a 

single person may have;
•  a new regulation on conflict of interests;
•  gender diversity targets for the board of directors and 

supervisory board;
•  the legal position of members of the board of direc-

tors of listed companies;
• changing the regulation on the binding nomination 
of members of the board of directors.

Ctac will amend its articles of association in line with 
the Management and supervision (public and private 
Companies) act.
 
legislative proposal regarding the implemen-
tation oF recommendations oF the corporate 
governance code monitoring committee 

the aim of the legislative proposal is to contribute to 
the strengthening of the Dutch corporate governance 
system by, for instance, improving the balance between 
directors and shareholders and improving control over 
the possible risks connected to excessive involve-
ment of shareholders. to this end, a motion has been 
submitted to amend the Financial supervision act, the 
securities (Bank giro transactions) act and the Dutch 
Civil Code.

the most important proposed amendments are the 
following:
-  in the event of a three percent equity interest, share-

holders must report their control and equity interest in 
listed companies (currently five percent); 

-  shareholders in listed companies are obliged to an-
nounce their intentions in the case of an equity inter-
est of at least three percent, after which each subse-
quent change of intentions must be reported; 

-  a statutory regulation enables listed companies to 
trace the identity of their investors, in combination 
with a regulation for communication between listed 
companies and their investors and, indirectly, among 
investors; 

-  the threshold for making use of the right to place an 
item on the agenda for the general Meeting of share-
holders is raised from one percent to three percent. 

the legislative proposal has been adopted by the 
Dutch House of representatives and the senate and is 
expected to take effect on 1 July 2013. 
 

legislative proposal to amend book 2 oF the 
dutch civil code and the Financial supervision 
act in connection with the power to adJust 
and demand repayment oF bonuses and proFit-
sharing oF board members and executives 
and a competency test For supervisory board 
members (claw back act)

this legislative proposal contains a regulation of the 
power to adjust and demand repayment of bonuses of 
executives. In addition, this proposal introduces a statu-
tory competency test for supervisory board members 
of financial companies. the proposal specifies that the 
supervisory board may adjust the value of an agreed 
bonus and may demand repayment of a paid bonus 
on behalf of the company. It also specifies the condi-
tions under which this may take place. the legislative 
proposal also includes an adjustment obligation for 
bonuses that become unconditional in the event of a 
public bid and the obligation to account for the use of 
the powers in the annual report.

the legislative proposal has been submitted to the 
House of representatives. Ctac awaits further develop-
ments in this respect. 

Board of Directors
the Board of Directors of Ctac is responsible for formu-
lating objectives and strategy and for carrying out the 
company’s strategic and operational policy. In fulfill-
ing their tasks, the Board of Directors focuses on the 
interests of the company and the companies that are 
affiliated with it. In doing so, the Board of Directors also 
takes the interests of all stakeholders into account.
In 2012, the Board of Directors of Ctac consisted of 
Henny Hilgerdenaar and Douwe van der Werf (em-
ployed as of 19 March 2012). For details about the 
members of the Board of Directors, we refer to page 18.

Supervisory Board
the supervisory Board is primarily responsible for 
supervising the policy and management of the Board 
of Directors, both from a strategic and an operational 
point of view. In addition, the supervisory Board acts as 
an advisory body to the Board of Directors. the proce-
dures and the profile of the supervisory Board are laid 
down in rules of procedure and in a profile description, 
which is published on our website. 
the supervisory Board currently consists of Herman 
olde Hartmann (chairman), Hans Jägers and ed Kraai-
jenzank. Hans Jägers maintains contact with the Works 
Council on behalf of the supervisory Board. For details 
about the members of the supervisory Board, we refer 
to page 19. 
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General Meeting of Shareholders
a general Meeting of shareholders is convened once 
a year. all decisions are taken based on the ‘one share, 
one vote’ principle. resolutions are adopted by an 
absolute majority of votes, unless a larger majority is 
prescribed by law or by the articles of association. 

the main powers of the general Meeting of sharehol-
ders of Ctac are:
-  adopting the financial statements;
-  adopting the profit appropriation and the dividend;
-  discharging the Board of Directors from liability for the 

policy pursued;
-  discharging the supervisory Board from liability for the 

supervision of the policy pursued and the manage-
ment of the company by the Board of Directors;

-  appointment, suspension and dismissal of the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors and the supervisory 
Board; 

-  appointing the external auditor;
-  resolving to amend the articles of association follow-

ing a motion by the priority Foundation;
-  authorising the Board of Directors to repurchase the 

company’s own shares;
-  determining the remuneration of the members of the 

supervisory Board;
-  approving important decisions of the Board of Direc-

tors.

Communication
Ctac attaches great value to open and transparent com-
munication with the financial community in general and 
with its financiers in particular. Ctac maintains regular 
contact with analysts and investors, as well as with the 
financial media that form the most important sources 
of information for private investors. In its communica-
tion with these target groups, Ctac relies on information 
published by means of press releases. In a disclosure 
policy, Ctac has laid down which information is pub-
lished and when this information is published. this 
guarantees the accurate and simultaneous provision of 
information to all shareholders. 
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report oF tHe  
superVIsory BoarD

Introduction 
the strategy started in the fourth quarter of 2011 to 
enable the organisation to function as an ICt solution 
provider was continued with verve and success in 2012. 
this strategy has already resulted in organic growth and 
a positive result in 2012. 

the sale of Meridian It in June 2012 and the sale of 
Healthcare in october 2012 were part of Ctac’s policy of 
disposing of activities that Ctac cannot make sufficiently 
profitable in the short term or that do not fit in with the 
strategy of an ICt solution provider. 

the move to the new building at the pettelaarpark in 
‘s-Hertogenbosch in 2012, at a visible location along the 
a2, had a positive impact on the message given off to 
customers and prospects, as well as to the organisation 
itself. 

Composition of the Board of Directors
Mr H.l.J. Hilgerdenaar served as Ceo and chairman of 
the Board of Directors for the entire year. prior to the 
appointment of Mr D.g.H. van der Werf as CFo on 16 
May 2012, Mr Hilgerdenaar temporarily performed the 
duties of the CFo in 2012.

During the general Meeting of shareholders, which was 
held on 16 May 2012, the proposal for the appointment 
of Mr Van der Werf as CFo and member of the Board of 
Directors was approved.

Composition of the Supervisory Board
In the year under review, no changes were made to the 
composition of the supervisory Board. the supervisory 
Board consists of the following three members: Her-
man olde Hartmann (chairman), Hans Jägers and ed 
Kraaijenzank. 

the supervisory Board has two separate committees: 
the audit committee and the remuneration committee. 
the composition of both committees is the same as 
the supervisory Board, with Mr Kraaijenzank being the 
chairman of the audit committee and Mr Jägers serving 
as the chairman of the remuneration committee.

Further information regarding the current members 
of the supervisory Board can be found on page 19 of 
this annual report. the composition of the supervisory 
Board complies with the Corporate governance Code 
guidelines. the composition is well-balanced and such 
that the combination of experience, expertise and inde-
pendence enables the supervisory Board to carry out its 
tasks properly. In the opinion of the supervisory Board, 
the stipulations of best practice provision III 2.1 have 
been satisfied. all supervisory Board members are inde-
pendent in the sense of best practice provision III.2.2. 
 

Mr olde Hartmann was appointed as a member of 
Ctac’s supervisory Board in 2005. the current term is 
until the date of the 2013 annual general Meeting of 
shareholders. It is proposed that the annual general 
Meeting of shareholders renew the current term and 
that Mr olde Hartmann be reappointed as a supervi-
sory Board member of Ctac until 2017.

Mr Kraaijenzank was appointed as a member of Ctac’s 
supervisory Board in 2009. the current term is until the 
date of the 2013 annual general Meeting of sharehold-
ers. It is proposed that the annual general Meeting of 
shareholders renew the current term and that Mr Kraai-
jenzank be reappointed as a supervisory Board member 
of Ctac until 2016.
 
Rotation schedule
aFter the resolutions proposed above have 
been processed:
-  Mr Jägers - appointed until 2014 -  

not eligible for re-election in 2014.
-  Mr Kraaijenzank - to be appointed until 2016 -  

eligible for re-election after 2016.
-  Mr olde Hartmann - to be appointed until 2017 -  

not eligible for re-election after 2017.

Activities of the Supervisory Board
activities
In the reporting year 2012, the supervisory Board met 
nine times in the presence of the Board of Directors 
and four times as the audit committee, as scheduled. 
all of the supervisory Board members were present at 
practically all of the meetings. During the meetings with 
the Board of Directors, a number of fixed agenda items 
were discussed, including the strategy, the budget, the 
financial developments and results, the market develop-
ments, employees' issues – including the Works Council 
(‘or’) - the organisational structure, the general and 
operational course of affairs, the remuneration policy 
and the execution and implications of this policy, as well 
as corporate governance. In addition, during several 
meetings, the strategy pursued by the company and 
the sharpening of its focus for the coming years was 
discussed and attention was regularly paid to the most 
important risks attached to the company's business 
operations. reference is made to pages 31-33 of this 
annual report for more information. the structure and 
functioning of the internal risk management and risk 
control systems in connection with this were evaluated 
periodically and did not require any further actions.
 
specific items that were discussed in 2012 were the 
strategic focus points, the measures necessary to miti-
gate the effects of the lower demand for ICt projects, 
and the possibilities to further improve Ctac's market 
position, under less favourable economic conditions. 
specific themes such as the future funding of Ctac, 

accommodation and data centre facilities were also 
discussed in detail once again. 

In 2012, the supervisory Board members met twice 
without the Board of Directors. During these meetings, 
the functioning of the supervisory Board itself, as well 
as the functioning and the composition of the Board 
of Directors, were discussed. Various other subjects 
discussed included the quality and timeliness of the 
information, the substantiation of proposals and evalu-
ation of decisions taken within the context of the com-
pany strategy, and the grip on foreseen and unforeseen 

events. In addition, issues such as the balance between 
involvement and remaining at a distance, the interac-
tion between the Board of Directors, supervisory Board 
and Works Council, the communication and personal 
relationships, the balance in the composition of the 
Board of Directors, knowledge and expertise, the pro-
file of the supervisory Board, the fulfilment of the role 
of chairman of the supervisory Board and the rotation 
schedule were discussed. 

In addition to the formal meetings, there were regular 
contacts in-between about current developments, both 
among the supervisory Board members themselves as 
with the members of the Board of Directors. a member 
of the supervisory Board also attended a meeting of 
the Works Council in 2012. In this meeting, the vision 
of the supervisory Board was also discussed regarding 
the consequences of the economic developments and 
the measures to be taken by Ctac. the members of 
the Works Council were also given the opportunity to 
exchange ideas with the members of the supervisory 
Board.

the supervisory Board has taken note of the Manage-
ment letter and discussed it with the external audi-
tor in the presence of the Board of Directors. special 
attention was devoted to the IFrs provisions that are 
applicable to Ctac and the compliance with the Dutch 
Corporate governance Code.

Finally, the annual meeting with the ‘stichting prioriteit’ 
(priority Foundation) and the ‘stichting Continuïteit’ 
(Continuity Foundation) took place in the presence of 
the Board of Directors. 

Remuneration of the Board of Directors (and the 
first level of the management team)
as is the case every year, in the last quarter of the year, 
the remuneration policy was assessed by the remunera-
tion committee against the developments and points 
of departure, and elements based on this were either 
confirmed or adjusted. this assessment did not lead to 

the adjustment of any remuneration elements this year. 
In line with these points of departure, the members of 
the Board of Directors receive a remuneration that is 
determined each year and consists of a base salary and 
a variable remuneration. the fixed part of the remu-
neration is in line with the remuneration of comparable 
companies and the variable part of the remuneration is 
linked to a minimum and a maximum and related to the 
fixed part of the remuneration. the variable part of the 
remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors 
is based on a number of KpIs (Key performance Indica-
tors). these KpIs together form a weighted average of 
the percentage of the variable part of the remunera-
tion. It must also be pointed out in this context that 
the continuity of the company in the longer term was 
decisive in putting together and weighting the KpIs. 
these KpIs are composed of financial data relating to 
turnover and profitability and data regarding employees 
and customer satisfaction indicators. For more details 
about the remuneration policy and the remuneration 
of the members of the Board of Directors please refer 
to the remuneration report on page 77-78 of this report 
and the Ctac corporate website (www.ctac.nl).

“  the strategy started in the Fourth quarter 
oF 2011 to enable the organisation to 
Function as an ict solution provider was 
continued with verve and success in 2012.”
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Remuneration of the Supervisory Boardn
the remuneration of the members of the supervisory 
Board is not linked to the results of the company. the 
general Meeting of shareholders determines the remu-
neration of the supervisory Board. none of the supervi-
sory Board members owns Ctac shares and/or options 
on Ctac shares. please refer to page 77 of this report for 
the remuneration report of the supervisory Board.

Financial statements and discharge
the 2012 financial statements and annual report 
prepared by the Board of Directors were submitted to 
the supervisory Board and discussed in detail. BDo 
audit & assurance B.V. has audited the 2012 financial 
statements and has issued an unqualified audit opinion. 
the audit opinion is included on page 94 of this annual 
report.

the supervisory Board has established that the report 
of the Board of Directors for 2012 satisfies the require-
ments of transparency and that the financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the financial position and the 
profitability of the company. therefore, it is proposed 
that the general Meeting of shareholders adopt the fi-
nancial statements and discharge the Board of Directors 
for the management of the company and the supervi-
sory Board for the supervision of the management of 
the company over the past financial year.

Appropriation of the result 
Ctac ended the financial year 2012 with a net result of 
eur 805 thousand. It is proposed that this result be 
added in its entirety to the other reserves, recognised 
under shareholders’ equity.

assuming the adoption of the 2012 financial statements 
is approved, the general Meeting of shareholders is re-
quested to grant their approval of the proposal for the 
appropriation of the result as has been determined by 
the Board of Directors with the approval of the supervi-
sory Board. 

Corporate governance 
Ctac’s corporate governance structure is a joint re-
sponsibility of the supervisory Board and the Board of 
Directors. at least once a year, the supervisory Board 
evaluates the corporate governance regulations that 
apply to the company and gives advice on any changes. 
In addition, corporate governance is placed on the 
agenda and discussed during the general Meeting of 
shareholders. since 2003, Ctac has also dedicated a 
separate chapter of the annual report to compliance 
with the Dutch Corporate governance Code. 

the supervisory Board and the Board of Directors sub-
scribe to and apply almost all of the principles and best 
practices in the Dutch Corporate governance Code. 
Ctac departs from this code only on a limited number of 
points. reference is made to page 36-37 of this report 
for a list of these points. 
 
A word of thanks
2012 was a year of major changes for Ctac. these 
changes drew heavily on our employees’ flexibility and 
resilience and helped bring about a positive result for 
Ctac in 2012, as well as providing a good starting posi-
tion for the future.
 
the supervisory Board would like to express its ap-
preciation to all employees, the management and the 
Board of Directors for their contribution over 2012.

’s-Hertogenbosch, 21 March 2013

The Supervisory Board

Mr H.G.B. Olde Hartmann, Chairman
Mr H.P.M. Jägers
Mr E. Kraaijenzank
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Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 december 2012   2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)
    
ASSETS    
    
Fixed assets    
    
7) Intangible fixed assets  16,057  16,934 
8) tangible fixed assets 2,218  1,528 
9) Deferred tax credits 979  1,170 

   19,254  19,632
    
Current assets    
    
10) trade receivables and other receivables 20,528  17,376 
11) Cash and cash equivalents 111  349 

   20,639  17,725
     
   39,893  37,357
 
   
LIABILITIES    
    
12) Shareholders' equity    
    
paid-up and called-up capital 2,825  2,796 
share premium reserve 10,986  10,920 
other reserves (7,631)  5,106 
result for the financial year 809  (12,737) 
    
      6,989  6,085
     
Minority interests  52  71
    
13) non-current liabilities    
13.1) amounts owed to banks 399  390 
13.2) other liabilities 2,369  3,471 
9) Deferred tax liabilities 465  680 
    
   3,233  4,541
    
Current liabilities    
    
amounts owed to banks 4,204  6,093 
14) provisions 636  966 
15) trade creditors and other liabilities 24,331  19,530 
Corporation tax due 448  71 
    
   29,619  26,660
    
   39,893  37,357

Consolidated profit and loss account for 2012   2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)
     
6) net turnover     79,861  72,983
     
Cost of hardware and software   8,868  6,265 
outsourced work    13,437  10,106 
Cost of goods sold     (22,305)  (16,371)
    
Gross Margin     57,556  56,612
    
16) personnel costs    41,220  41,637
Depreciation and amortisation   1,474  2,350 
17) other operating expenses   12,872  13,797 
    
total operating expenses    (55,566)  (57,784)
    
Operating result before impairment of goodwill   1,990  (1,172)
    
goodwill impairment     -  (11,540)
    
Operating result     1,990  (12,712)
    
Interest income and similar income   2  74 *
Interest expenses and similar expenses  (189)  (428) *
other financial expenses   (696)  (112) 
    
18) total financial income and expenses   (883)  (466)
    
sales result participations    93  -
    
Result from ordinary activities before taxes   1,200  (13,178)
    
19) taxes     (395)  441
    
Net result     805  (12,737)
    
accruing to minority interests    (4)  -
accruing to group shareholders    809  (12,737)
    
20) earnings per share   
    
Net result per share     0.07  (1.10)
Net result per share after dilution    0.05  **

number of shares at year-end    11,771,586  11,650,270 
number of weighted average outstanding ordinary shares   11,731,147  11,619,317 
 
number of weighted average outstanding ordinary shares
for the calculation of the diluted earnings per share    17,538,645  16,838,672 

*   With effect from 2012 the financial income and expenses attributable to the notional pooling of the credit facility 
at aBn aMro are included netted off. Comparative 2011 figures have been corrected for this. 

**  net result per share after potential dilution for 2011 has not been included. potential ordinary shares must be 
treated as diluted if and only if the conversion into ordinary shares would increase or decrease the profit or loss 
per share from continuing operations (Ias 33.41).

FInanCIal stateMents
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Consolidated statement of the total result for 2012  2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000) 
 
Net result directly attributable to shareholders' equity  -  -
   
net result for the financial year    805  (12,737)
Total result for the financial year    805  (12,737)

Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders' equity in 2012
(in eur x 1,000)
  Issued  Share Statutory  Other  Undis- Accruing  Minority Group
  share  premium reserves reserves tributed to group interests equity
  capital    profit shareholders  
Balance as at 1 January  2,796 10,920 1,801 (9,432)  6,085 71 6,156
Change in intangible  
fixed assets   (1,801) 1,801  -  -
net result     809 809 (4) 805
Issue of shares 29 66    95 - 95
Dividend      - (15) (15)
Balance as at 31 December 2,825 10,986 - (7,631) 809 6,989 52 7,041
       
In 2012 a dividend was paid out to minority interests for 2010 and 2011.

Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders' equity in 2011
(in eur x 1,000)
  Issued  Share Statutory  Other  Undis- Accruing  Minority Group
  share  premium reserves reserves tributed to group interests equity
  capital    profit shareholders  
Balance as at 1 January 2,766 10,690 3,133 1,973  18,562 33 18,595
Change in intangible  
fixed assets   (1,332) 1,332  -  -
net result     (12,737) (12,737) - (12,737)
Issue of shares 30 230    260  260
adjustments to fair value      - 38 38
Balance as at 31 December 2,796 10,920 1,801 3,305 (12,737) 6,085 71 6,156

no dividend was paid out in 2011.

Consolidated cash flow statement for the year 2012  2012  2011
 (in eur x 1,000)  

CASH FLOW STATEMENT      

operating result    1,990  (12,712) 
Depreciation and amortisation   1,685  13,910  
      3,675  1,198 
      
Changes in working capital       
receivables    (3,823)  801
short-term liabilities    4,517  (391)
      694  410 
Cash flow from business operations    4,369  1,608 
    
Interest received    2  74 *
Interest paid    (189)  (428)
tax on profits paid    (486)  (27)
      (673)  (381)

Cash flow from operational activities   3,696  1,227
         
Investments in tangible fixed assets   (1,476)  (702)

Cash flow from investment activities   (1,476)  (702) 

long-term financing taken / repaid   9  (520)
earn-out obligations paid   (503)  (2,134)**
Dividend minority interests   (15)
sale of participations    (60)  25** 
      
Cash flow from financing activities    (569)  (2,629) 
       
      1,651   (2,104) 
Cash and cash equivalents    349  1,127
short-term debts owed to banks    (6,093)  (4,767)
Balance of cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January   (5,744)  (3,640)

Cash and cash equivalents    111  349
short-term debts owed to banks     (4,204)  (6,093)
Balance of cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December   (4,093)  (5,744)

      1 ,651  (2,104)

*  With effect from 2012 the financial income and expenses attributable to the notional pooling of the credit facility at 
aBn aMro are reported netted off. Comparative 2011 figures have been corrected for this.

**  With effect from 2012 the cash flows related to the interests in participations are included under the financing 
activities. the comparative 2011 figures have been corrected for this.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1. General information about Ctac
Ctac is an ICt service provider specialised in erp 
solutions. Ctac's activities consist of implementation, 
integration and management of, among others, sap 
systems and Microsoft systems and related activities 
such as system upgrades and system optimisations. the 
company is a sap gold partner and a Microsoft gold 
partner in the netherlands and Belgium. In addition, 
Ctac is the largest sap reseller in the netherlands for 
medium-sized companies. approximately six hundred 
organisations of every size and in various sectors belong 
to Ctac's customer base. at the end of 2012, Ctac 
employed 466 people. Ctac is active in the nether-
lands, Belgium and France; its head office is located in 
's-Hertogenbosch. the company is listed on euronext 
amsterdam (ticker: CtaC). 

2. Main accounting principles for the financial 
statements
Ctac n.V.’s consolidated financial statements were 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
reporting standards (IFrs) and the interpretation of 
these standards as laid down by the International ac-
counting standards Board (IasB) and accepted within 
the european union. Ctac n.V.’s financial statements 
have been prepared in Dutch and in english, with the 
Dutch version prevailing. the financial statements are 
presented in euros. amounts are stated in thousands of 
euros, unless stated otherwise. the euro is Ctac n.V.'s 
functional and presentation currency. 

preparing the consolidated financial statements in ac-
cordance with IFrs requires the management to make 
assessments, estimates and assumptions that influence 
the application of the guidelines and the valuation of 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. the estimates 
and assumptions that are made are based on historical 
experiences and various other factors that are deemed 
realistic under the given circumstances. 
the estimates and assumptions that were made have 
served as the basis for the assessment of the value 
of the reported assets and liabilities. However, actual 
results and circumstances can differ from the estimates 
that were made. estimates and underlying assump-
tions are constantly assessed and if necessary adjusted. 
Changes in estimates and assumptions are recorded 
in the period in which the estimates are revised if the 
revision only concerns the period in question, or in the 
period of revision and future periods if the revision influ-
ences both the current and future periods.

applying amended and new international 
Financial reporting standards (iFrs)
a number of new standards, amended standards and 
interpretations did not yet come into force in 2012 and 
consequently these have not been applied to the con-
solidated financial statements, unless explained.
Ias 19  employee pension benefits: Ctac does not 

have any pension scheme which can be clas-
sified as a defined benefit scheme and this 
amendment therefore has no impact on Ctac’s 
equity and result.

IFrs 11   Joint arrangements: in the case of joint opera-
tions, the assets and obligations that accrue to 
the company are fully included; in the case of 
joint ventures, the equity method is used. Ctac 
does not expect the inclusion of its interests 
in joint arrangements to change for the 2014 
financial year.

IFrs 10  Consolidated Financial statements: this 
standard stipulates somewhat different criteria 
in respect of the current IFrs for determin-
ing the scope of the consolidation. Ctac does 
not expect this standard to affect its scope of 
consolidation for the 2014 financial year.

IFrs 12  Disclosure of Interest in other entities: this 
standard contains more detailed requirements 
for the disclosure of interests in other entities. 
Ctac expects that some disclosures will be 
more detailed in the 2014 financial year.

IFrs 13  Fair Value: this standard replaces a number of 
definitions of fair value given in other stand-
ards with a common definition and contains 
more detailed disclosure requirements. Ctac 
does not expect this standard to have any 
significant effects in the 2013 financial year.

When preparing the financial statements, the manage-
ment examines the impact of these amendments on the 
financial statements. the amendments will be applied 
for the first time in the financial year as from the time 
that the amendments become effective. 

the following new standards and interpretations be-
came effective in 2012 but are not currently relevant to 
the Ctac n.V. reporting.
IFrs 1   amendment regarding First time adoption of 

IFrs 
IFrs 7   amendment regarding Financial instruments: 

disclosures 
Ias 12   amendment regarding inclusion of taxes on 

profits 

2.1 Accounting principles for consolidation
Ctac n.V. and all participations in which Ctac n.V. holds 
a direct or indirect interest of more than 50% and in 
which Ctac n.V. can exercise decisive control are in-
cluded in the consolidation. For a list of the companies, 
see appendix 1, page 99.

With effect from 1 January 2012 the Belgian companies 
Ctac professional services n.V., Ctac square BVBa, Ctac 
Intelligence BVBa and Ctac logistics BVBa merged 
into a single company: Ctac professional services n.V., 
and the companies Ctac aMI BVBa and Ctac Managed 
services n.V. merged into a single company: Ctac Man-
aged services n.V.
the interest in Ctac supply Chain solutions BVBa was 
sold as of 3 May 2012.

as of 1 January 2012, the four companies Ctac 
Deutschland gmbH, Ctac utilities gmbH, Ctac sCM 
gmbH and Ctac retail gmbH merged into a single 
company: Ctac Deutschland gmbH.

the company Meridian It BV was sold as of 31 May 
2012.

the financial statements of the majority participations 
have been included in the consolidated financial state-
ments as from the date on which decisive control was 
acquired until the time that decisive control ceases to 
exist. 

the cost price of a newly acquired participation is 
determined based on the fair value on the transaction 
date of the liquid assets and, if applicable, the equity 
instruments (in this case shares) used to finance the 
acquisition. goodwill is determined based on the dif-
ference between the cost price of the acquisition and 
the net fair value of the acquired identifiable assets and 
liabilities, including contingent liabilities at the time 
of the acquisition. If the cost price of the participation 
is lower than the fair value of the assets and liabilities, 
including contingent liabilities of the participation in 
question, this difference is recognised in favour of the 
result.

Inter-company balance sheet positions, transactions 
and unrealised profits on inter-company transactions are 
eliminated when preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. 

the accounting principles for valuation and deter-
mination of the results as included in these financial 
statements are applicable to the balance sheets and 
the profit and loss accounts of all group companies 
included in the consolidation.

2.2 Segmented reporting
In accordance with IFrs 8, segmented information is 
based on operational segments, which are monitored 
by managers and based upon which managers take 
their operational decisions. these operational segments 
are identified on the basis of internal reporting that is 
periodically assessed by the Board of Directors with a 
view to allocating working capital to components and 
to determining the performance of the components.

2.3 Intangible fixed assets
2.3.1 goodwill
acquisitions are recognised using the purchase method 
of accounting. goodwill that may result from the ac-
quisition of participations is determined based on the 
difference between the cost price of the acquisition and 
the net fair value of the acquired identifiable assets and 
liabilities, including contingent liabilities at the time of 
the acquisition. goodwill is valued at cost price minus 
cumulative impairments. Inclusion of a deferred tax 
obligation in the event of adjustments to fair value af-
fects the level of the goodwill. goodwill is attributed to 
cash-flow generating units. 
an impairment of goodwill, where relevant, is charged 
to the profit and loss account. an impairment relating 
to goodwill is never reversed. upon the sale of an entity, 
the book value of the goodwill is included in the result. 

Value adjustments of earn-out obligations are recog-
nised in the result and no retrospective adjustments are 
made to the goodwill. In addition, directly attributable 
acquisition costs are not taken into account in the calcu-
lation of the acquisition price and goodwill. these costs 
are charged directly to the result. 

FInanCIal stateMents
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In the situation of a minority interest, without agree-
ments about acquiring the shares of third parties, 
goodwill is determined as the difference between the 
acquisition price and the proportional part of the fair 
values of the acquired assets and liabilities.

Insight into the contingent liabilities and a description 
of the factors that have contributed to the cost price 
that results in the recognition of goodwill cannot always 
be provided because in some cases business plans are 
not yet sufficiently clear. the fair value that must be 
accorded to the intangible fixed assets must still be 
worked out and determined. Where applicable, this will 
take place within twelve months from the acquisition 
date.

2.3.2 intangible Fixed assets related to cus-
tomers
the intangible fixed assets related to customers pertain 
to the intangible fixed assets of acquisitions identified 
in accordance with IFrs 3 (Business Combinations) and 
include customer and contract portfolios and are valued 
at the fair value at the time of acquisition. amortisation 
is based on the useful life of each individual compo-
nent.

2.3.3 intellectual property rights related to 
developed products
these intangible fixed assets pertain to purchased 
intellectual property rights and/or distribution rights 
connected thereto. these purchased intellectual prop-
erty rights are recognised at fair value at the time of 
acquisition. amortisation is based on the useful life of 
each individual component. 

2.3.4 intangible Fixed assets produced in-house
Development costs of intangible fixed assets produced 
in-house are only capitalised when it is probable that 
economic benefits arising from the investment will be 
generated for a period longer than one year. the costs 
of company staff related directly to the intangible fixed 
assets developed in-house are capitalised at cost. the 
costs of any services rendered by third parties in con-
nection with the in-house produced intangible fixed as-
sets are capitalised at cost. If material, interest charges 
are also a component of the capitalised costs. Intangi-
ble fixed assets produced in-house are amortised from 
the date that they are taken into use.

2.3.5 expenditure aFter initial investment
expenditure on capitalised intangible fixed assets after 
initial investment is only capitalised when this expendi-
ture results in increasing the future economic benefits 
arising from the investment. all other expenses are 
recognised as charges in the profit and loss account.

2.3.6 amortisation oF intangible Fixed assets
amortisation charges are charged to the profit and loss 
account in accordance with the straight-line method 
based on the useful life of an intangible asset. goodwill 
is assessed annually on the balance sheet date for im-
pairments. other intangible fixed assets are amortised 
from the date that they are taken into use. the useful 
life of the intangible fixed asset based upon which the 
amortisation is determined is as follows:
- customer bases  7 years
- intellectual property rights  7 years
-  intangible fixed assets related to  

developed products 5-10 years
the amortisation periods are evaluated annually and 
adjusted when necessary.

2.4 Tangible fixed assets
2.4.1 tangible Fixed assets owned by the 
company
tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less cumulative 
depreciation and impairments. the cost includes the 
additional costs that are directly attributable to the ac-
quisition or production of the asset. Costs incurred after 
the asset is initially recognised in the financial state-
ments are included in the book value of the asset or are 
recognised as a separate asset when it is probable that 
the future economic benefits generated by the asset 
will accrue to Ctac. and the costs of the asset can be 
determined in a reliable manner. Maintenance costs are 
recognised in the profit and loss account in the period 
in which they are incurred. 

Book losses and gains upon divestment of tangible 
fixed assets are recognised in the profit and loss ac-
count.

2.4.2 depreciation oF tangible Fixed assets
the tangible fixed assets are recognised at acquisition 
price minus depreciation, calculated on a straight-line 
basis, based on the expected useful life. the annual 
depreciation percentages are as follows for:
- structural modifications to leased building  10% - 20%
- computer equipment and software  20% - 33 1/3%
- fixtures and fittings  10% - 25%
renovations are depreciated over the remaining term of 
the lease agreements of the buildings in question or the 
service life if this is shorter. the residual value, which is 
often set at zero, and the useful life of the tangible fixed 
asset are assessed each year on the balance sheet date 
and adjusted if necessary. 

2.5 Trade receivables and other receivables
trade receivables and other receivables are initially 
recognised in the financial statements at fair value. a 
provision for bad debt is formed at the time that it is 
assumed that a receivable or part of a receivable will 
not be collected. the amount of the provision is deter-
mined as being the difference between the book value 
of the receivable and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the effective rate of in-
terest; the addition to the provision is recognised in the 
profit and loss account under other operating expenses. 

the item 'other receivables' concerns turnover still to 
be invoiced for services that have been provided, other 
claims as well as prepayments and accrued income. 
prepayments and accrued income include amounts to 
be received in connection with projects in progress on 
the balance sheet date insofar as these amounts exceed 
the amounts already invoiced in connection with these 
projects. When in connection with projects in progress, 
the already invoiced amounts are higher than the total 
of the costs incurred plus the realised profit, the bal-
ance regarding these projects is accounted for under 
the item other debts.

2.6 Cash and cash equivalents
the cash and cash equivalents relate to cash in hand 
and cash balances at banks and are stated at fair value. 
the amounts under the credit facility in current account 
are recognised under the item short-term commit-
ments.

2.7 Impairments of non-financial assets
an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life as well 
as an intangible asset that is not yet ready for use is not 
amortised but assessed annually for impairment. assets 
with a specified useful life are amortised and assessed 
for impairment each time when there is an indication 
that the book value differs from the realisable value. an 
impairment is determined at the amount that the book 
value exceeds the realisable value.

2.7.1 calculation oF the realisable value
the realisable value of an asset or cash-flow generat-
ing unit is the highest amount of the fair value less 
disposal costs and the value in use. the fair value is the 
realisable value resulting from the sale of a cash-flow 
generating unit to a third party (in an 'at arm's length 
transaction'). the value in use is the present value of 
the expected cash flows from an asset or cash-flow 
generating unit. When determining the value in use, 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows is 
calculated using a discount rate before tax that reflects 
both the current market estimates of the time value of 
money and the specific risk relating to the asset. For an 
asset that does not generate cash flows which can be 
determined individually, the economic value is deter-
mined for the cash-flow generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. 

2.7.2 reversal oF impairments
an impairment relating to goodwill is never reversed. 

an impairment relating to other assets is reversed in the 
event that the estimates on the basis of which the realis-
able value was determined have changed. an impair-
ment is only reversed insofar as the book value of the 
asset after the reversal does not become higher than 
the book value which, after the deduction of deprecia-
tion or amortisation, would have been determined at 
that time if no impairment had been recognised. each 
year it is assessed whether there are indications that an 
impairment that was recognised in earlier periods for an 
asset, with the exception of goodwill, no longer exists 
or has possibly decreased. If such an indication exists, 
the realisable value of the relevant asset is determined 
again and the impairment is adjusted insofar as the as-
sessment gives cause for adjustment.

FInanCIal stateMents
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2.8 Shareholders' equity
2.8.1 paid-up and called-up capital
the authorised share capital amounts to eur 7,200,000 
and is divided into 30,000,000 shares of eur 0.24 as fol-
lows: 14,999,999 ordinary shares, 15,000,000 preference 

shares and 1 priority share. the issued share capital at 
year-end 2012 consists of 11,771,586 ordinary shares 
and 1 priority share. all issued shares are fully paid up.

Changes in the volumes of outstanding shares are as follows:

      2012  2011
     Ordinary Priority Ordinary Priority
Balance as at 1 January   11,650,269 1 11,526,459 1
repurchases of shares during the financial year  - - - -
sale / issue of shares during the financial year  121,317 - 123,810 -
Balance as at 31 December    11,771,586 1 11,650,269 1

no changes have taken place with regard to the prefer-
ence and priority shares. reference is made to page 88 
‘other information' for information regarding the rights, 
preference rights and restrictions that apply to each 
category of shares

2.8.2 repurchase oF own shares
When Ctac n.V. repurchases its own shares (so-called 
treasury shares), the amount of the compensation for 
this repurchase, including any directly attributable costs 
(less taxes) is charged to the other reserves until the 
time that the shares are cancelled, reissued or sold. If 
repurchased own shares are sold or reissued, then the 
amount received, less directly attributable costs (less 
taxes) is recognised in favour of the other reserves.

as at 31 December 2012, no own shares are held by 
Ctac n.V. or by its subsidiaries. 

2.8.3 dividends
a dividend payment to the Ctac n.V. shareholders is rec-
ognised as a liability at the time that the general Meet-
ing of shareholders passes the resolution to that end.

2.8.4 option plan
the number of outstanding option rights will not ex-
ceed 10% of the number of outstanding ordinary shares.

share appreciation rights allotted to employees are 
 recognised as liabilities as the services are rendered. 
these share appreciation rights are initially recognised 
(and subsequently at each reporting date until set-
tlement) at the fair value of the share appreciation 
rights. an option valuation model is used whereby the 
conditions are taken into account under which the share 
appreciation rights were allotted and the degree in 
which the employees have rendered the services up to 
the relevant moment. the most important assumption 
with regard to determining the fair value concerns the 
probability that the conditions of the share appreciation 
rights will be realised.

2.9 Long-term liabilities
2.9.1 loans
on initial recognition in the financial statements, loans 
are valued at fair value plus transaction costs. after 
initial recognition, loans are valued at amortised cost 
price.

2.9.2 obligation to purchase minority interests
Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries in re-
spect of which a put option is granted to the minority 
shareholders are presented as a liability separately from 
shareholders' equity. this right on the part of minority 
shareholders to sell their interest constitutes the obliga-
tion for Ctac to buy the shares of minority shareholders. 
the obligation is valued at estimated fair value. the 
valuation methods that are used are in line with the 
underlying agreements. In particular, the development 
of the result is a determining factor in the valuation. 
regarding the purchase obligation, Ctac can choose 
whether to pay in cash or in a number of Ctac n.V. 
shares still to be determined. the goodwill in connec-
tion with this earn-out obligation amounted to eur 4.5 
million at year-end 2012 (year-end 2011: eur 5.1 million) 
and is recognised on the asset side of the balance sheet 
as an intangible fixed asset. 

a discount rate of 10% is taken into account in the cal-
culation of the purchase obligation of minority interests. 
In addition, assumptions were made regarding turnover 
growth, profitability, etc. Differences from these as-
sumptions can result in a different fair value. the effects 
of this depend on the extent of the difference and are 
recognised in the profit and loss account as valuation 
differences.

Changes in the purchase obligations arising from the 
accrual of interest are recognised in the profit and loss 
account under other financial liabilities.

2.10 Provisions
a provision is included in the balance sheet if the fol-
lowing conditions are met: 
1.  a legally enforceable or actual obligation of Ctac ex-

ists as a result of an event in the past;
2.  It is probable that the settlement of this obligation 

will result in an outflow of funds;
3.  a reliable estimate can be made of the outflow of 

funds, which are deemed necessary for the settle-
ment of the obligation. 

 
the provision for vacant premises relates to future lease 
expenses, including fixed costs in connection with the 
lease and minus the expected income from sub-letting, 
for the period of the contract in which the property is 
not expected to be used. If the termination fee of a 
lease is lower, the provision is determined at this lower 
amount. 
 
regarding existing guarantee obligations at year-end, 
another provision is made for the amount of the esti-
mated work following from these obligations. the provi-
sion is formed based on the cost price of the estimated 
work that still has to be carried out. 
 
In the event that a loss-making project is foreseen, a 
provision is  formed for this under other provisions in 
the amount by which the expected benefits from the 
agreement for Ctac are lower than the unavoidable 
costs required in order to satisfy the obligations under 
the particular agreement.

2.11 Trade payables and other debts
on initial recognition in the financial statements, trade 
payables and other debts are valued at fair value plus 
transaction costs. after initial recognition, trade paya-
bles and other debts are valued at amortised cost price.

2.12 Recognition of turnover
net turnover is defined as the revenue, excluding 
turnover tax, from services rendered to third parties and 
goods supplied to third parties in the year under review. 
the manner in which turnover is recognised depends 
on the nature of the services that were rendered and 
the contractual terms governing the relevant services.

revenue is recognised at fair value.

2.12.1 contracts based on contractual rates 
and retrospective costing
turnover resulting from services under contracts based 
on contractual rates and retrospective costing is recog-
nised at the time the services are provided, irrespective 
of the duration of the contracts.

2.12.2 Fixed-price contracts
In the case of contracts with a fixed pricing, turnover is 
recognised proportionally to the total contract price in 
accordance with the percentage of completion (poC) in 
the year under review insofar as the extent to which the 
services were rendered on the balance sheet date can 
be determined reliably and the costs already incurred 
for the transaction and the costs to complete the 
transaction can be estimated reliably. When applying 
the poC method, turnover is recognised on the basis 
of total costs incurred on the balance sheet date in rela-
tion to the total estimated costs that will be incurred for 
fulfilling the contract obligations. 

estimates are adjusted when circumstances occur that 
lead to a change in the original estimates of turnover, 
costs or work still to be carried out. these adjustments 
can influence still to be realised turnover or costs; such 
adjustments are recognised in the period in which the 
circumstances occur that give rise to an adjustment of 
the estimates.

2.12.3 licences
turnover arising from sales of licences, the delivery of 
which does not impose any additional obligations on 
Ctac, is fully recognised at the time of delivery. 

When a licence is part of a project and the licence is 
not separately identifiable, the turnover generated by 
the sale of the licence is recognised as part of the total 
project price prorated to the percentage of completion 
(poC) in the year under review. In this respect, addition-
al services are rendered by Ctac with respect to the li-
cence, such as integration, modification and customisa-
tion. turnover resulting from the sale of purchased and 
re-sold licences where no material additional services 
are rendered by Ctac is recognised up to the amount of 
the realised margin at the time of delivery.

2.13 Expenses
2.13.1 expenses relating to the purchase value 
oF hardware, soFtware and outsourced work
expenses relating to the purchase value of hardware, 
software and outsourced work are recognised at histori-
cal cost in the period in which these expenses were 
incurred.

2.13.2 pension costs
employees at Ctac build up their pensions for their own 
account and at their own risk (defined contribution pen-
sion scheme). Ctac's pension contribution is recognised 
under personnel costs.
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2.13.3 operational lease payments / rents
operational lease payments are recognised in the profit 
and loss account on a straight-line basis over the lease 
period. rent for buildings is also recognised in the 
profit and loss account on as straight-line basis over the 
lease period. 

2.13.4 Financing income and expenses
Financing income includes the interest received on 
current account balances with financial institutions and 
interest received in connection with the settlement of 
tax credits. Financing expenses include interest charged 
by financial institutions on borrowed funds, interest paid 
in connection with the settlement of tax liabilities and 
the accrued interest on earn-out obligations.
the valuation differences concern the changes in fair 
value of the earn-out obligations and purchase obliga-
tions in respect of minority interests, which result from 
changes in the growth, profitability, risk and other 
estimates.

2.14 Taxes on the result
taxes on the result of the financial year comprise taxes 
due and available for set-off and deferred taxes over 
the period under review. tax on the result is recognised 
in the profit and loss account unless the tax relates to 
items recognised directly in shareholders' equity. In that 
case, the related taxes are also recognised directly in 
shareholders’ equity. 

the taxes due over the period under review and avail-
able for set-off consist of profit tax on the taxable result, 
which is calculated based on applicable tax rates, taking 
into account exempt profit components and non-
deductible amounts as well as corrections to taxation in 
previous financial years. 

Deferred taxes are calculated based on established tax 
rates and laws that are applicable or which have been 
materially decided upon on the balance sheet date, and 
that are expected to be applicable at the time that the 
deferred tax credit is realised or the deferred tax liability 
is paid.

Deferred tax credits in connection with losses avail-
able for set-off against taxes are only capitalised to the 
extent that it is probable the settlement can take place 
against profits to be achieved in the coming years. 
Deferred tax credits and liabilities with the same term 
and at the same tax entity are set-off against each other 
in the balance sheet provided that such setting off is 
permitted by law. 

3. Accounting principles for the cash flow 
statement 
the cash flow statement has been prepared using the 
indirect method. In the cash flow statement, a distinc-
tion is made between the cash flows from operational 
activities, investment activities and finance activities. 
Income and expenditure relating to tax on profits and 
interest income and interest expenses are part of the 
net cash flow from operational activities. Cash flows re-
sulting from the acquisition or disposal of financial inter-
ests (participations and investments) are included under 
the cash flow finance activities, taking into account the 
presence of liquid assets within these interests. paid 
dividends are included in the cash flow from financing 
activities. the balance of liquid assets is recorded in the 
cash flow statement including the amounts drawn from 
the current account as stated under the item the short-
term liabilities.

4. Financial risk management
Ctac is confronted with various financial risks, such as 
market risks, credit risks and liquidity risks. the general 
risk management within Ctac, as supervised by the 
Board of Directors, covers a broader field than simply 
financial risks. More information is provided in the risk 
management section of the report of the Board of 
Directors on page 32 of this annual report. the aim of 
risk management is to draw up an inventory of the most 
important risks and to effectively control these risks on 
the basis of regulations, procedures, systems, best prac-
tices, controls and audits. the financial risk manage-
ment focuses in particular on the risks that are relevant 
for Ctac in this context. 

4.1 Market risk
4.1.1 interest rate risk
Ctac is exposed to interest rate risks that are exclusively 
limited to the eurozone. at year-end 2012, Ctac 's long-
term interest-bearing bank loans amounted to eur 0.4 
million (year-end 2011: eur 0.4 million). the interest 
rate is one-month euribor + 1.858%. Ctac has decided 
not to hedge the interest rate risk.

4.1.2 exchange rate risk
all companies within Ctac are located in the eurozone. 
the large majority of turnover is generated within the 
eurozone. Consequently, the euro is Ctac 's reporting 
and functional currency. Ctac does not have any assets 
or liabilities outside of the eurozone. the Board of 
Directors of Ctac considers the exchange rate risks to 
be very limited at year-end 2012.

4.2 Credit risk
Credit risk management is centralised at Ctac. the 
credit risk arises from liquid assets and transactions 
with customers, including outstanding receivables. Ctac 
only accepts professional parties in the netherlands as 
banks and financial institutions. Ctac 's financing facility 
has been made available by aBn aMro Bank. the 
creditworthiness of customers is determined in advance 
on the basis of project acceptance criteria. If available, 
external credit ratings are used for this purpose. If no 
external credit ratings are available, Ctac assesses the 
customer's creditworthiness on the basis of its financial 
position, past experiences and other factors. Credit 
risks relating to customers are continually assessed. 
although economic conditions were not favourable in 
2012, Ctac n.V.'s Board of Directors is of the opinion 
that the credit risk relating to customers still remains 
limited.

4.3 Liquidity risk
liquidity management is centralised at Ctac . to this 
end, up to 1 august 2012, use was made of the centrally 
managed credit facilities of eur 10.4 million in total at 
aBn aMro Bank. this facility was reduced to eur 9.5 
million as of 1 august 2012. With effect from 1  January 
2013 this facility will be reduced by eur 62,500 per 
quarter so that it reaches eur 8.5 million as of 1 January 
2017. a pledge right on receivables, company equip-
ment and Ip rights has been granted as security. 
the aim of the liquidity management is to make the 
most optimal use of the available liquid assets and cred-
it facilities within Ctac . to this end, liquidity forecasts 
are drawn up periodically for both the short term and 
the medium term. the forecasts are adjusted periodi-
cally based on realisation and any adjusted projections.

4.4 Capital risk management
the management of capital is centralised at Ctac n.V. 
and is aimed at, on the one hand, ensuring the continu-
ity of Ctac and, on the other, optimising the capital 
structure. 

Instruments to achieve an optimal capital structure 
include the dividend policy, the possibility of repurchas-
ing own shares and the possibility of issuing shares, in 
particular, in connection with the financing of possible 
acquisitions or the reduction of debt positions. 

5. Key estimates and assumptions
5.1 estimates with regard to impairment oF 
goodwill
the realisable value is the estimated immediate market 
value or the value in use if this is higher. When deter-
mining the value in use of an asset, the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows is calculated using 
a discount rate that reflects both the current market 
estimates of the time value of money and the specific 
risks relating to the asset. 

the future cash flows are estimated using current and 
historical results per asset. For each asset, a detailed 
forecast is made for the coming year and forecasts are 
made for the future based on conservative assumptions 
for turnover growth and margin development. Cash 
flows after a period of five years are extrapolated with 
low growth percentages. the assumptions used are ac-
ceptable in the sector in which Ctac is active. 
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5.2 estimates with regard to risks on proJects 
and debtors
If there is a case of a loss-making project, a provision is 
formed in the amount by which the expected benefits 
from the agreement for Ctac are lower than the una-
voidable costs required in order to satisfy the obliga-
tions under the particular agreement. a provision for 
bad debt is formed at the time that it is assumed that a 
receivable or part of a receivable will not be collected. 

5.3 estimates with regard to earn-out obliga-
tions
For the purpose of the earn-out obligations, the future 
results for each entity are estimated on the basis of 
a detailed forecast for the coming year and forecasts 
based on conservative assumptions for turnover growth 
and margin development for future years. the calcula-
tion of the obligations based on the estimated results is 
consistent with the underlying contracts.

6. Information by segment

Ctac provides a range of closely related services in 
the sap consultancy market, generally on project or 
on management basis. the management of Ctac n.V. 
directs the company on the basis of two geographic 
segments, i.e. the netherlands and Belgium, and one 
segment referred to as ‘other’ which consists of the 
other activities, including the holding. the compara-
tive 2011 figures have been corrected as a result of this 
regrouping. 
there are no valuation differences between the man-
agement information with regard to the segments and 
the information in the financial statements. the prices 
and conditions for the transactions between the seg-
ments are determined at arm's length. 
 

the segmented results over the year 2012 can be specified as follows:

2012
(in eur x 1,000)
   The Netherlands Belgium Other  Inter- Consolidated
      segment- 
      eliminations  
Turnover by segment   65,852 15,836 3,003 (4,830) 79,861
     
operating result   3,942 182 (2,134) - 1,990
     
Financial income   3 86 57 (144) 2
Financial expenses   (57) (146) (130) 144 (189)
Financial income and expenses  
earn-out obligations   - - (696) - (696)
sales result participation   - 53 40 - 93
     
result before tax   3,888 175 (2,863) - 1,200
      
taxes   (907) (116) 628 - (395)
      
net result   2,981 59 (2,235) - 805

the segmented results over the year 2011 can be specified as follows:

2011
(in eur x 1,000)

   The Netherlands Belgium Other  Inter- Consolidated
      segment- 
      eliminations 
          
Turnover by segment   58,515 15,440 3,117 (4,089) 72,983
      
operating result before  
impairment of goodwill   3,309 35 (4,516) - (1,172)
      
goodwill impairment   - (3,329) (8,211) - (11,540)
      
operating result   3,309 (3,294) (12,727) - (12,712)
      
Financial income   19 56 97 (98) 74
Financial expenses   (37) (310) (291) 98 (540)

result before tax   3,291 (3,548) (12,921) - (13,178)
       
taxes   (814) (80) 1,335 - 441
       
net result   2,477 (3,628) (11,586) - (12,737)

the other segmented information regarding the profit and loss account of 2012 is as follows:

Depreciation and amortisation 2012
(in eur x 1,000)

   The Netherlands Belgium Other  Inter- Consolidated
      segment- 
      eliminations 
          
Intangible fixed assets   392 120 390 - 902
tangible fixed assets   301 36 446 - 783
Total depreciation and amortisation  693 156 836 - 1,685

Investments in 2012
(in eur x 1,000)

   The Netherlands Belgium Other  Inter- Consolidated
      segment- 
      eliminations 
          
Intangible fixed assets   - - (73) - (73)
tangible fixed assets   471 58 947 - 1,476
Total investments   471 58 874 - 1,403

60   CtaC annual report 2012 61



FInanCIal stateMents

the other segmented information regarding the profit and loss account of 2011 is as follows:

Depreciation and amortisation 2011
(in eur x 1,000)

   The Netherlands Belgium Other  Inter- Consolidated
      segment- 
      eliminations 
Intangible fixed assets   364 120 631 - 1,115
goodwill impairment   - 3,329 8,211 - 11,540
tangible fixed assets   630 24 581 - 1,235
Total depreciation and amortisation  994 3,473 9,423 - 13,890

Investments in 2011
(in eur x 1,000)

   The Netherlands Belgium Other  Inter- Consolidated
      segment- 
      eliminations 
           
Intangible fixed assets   294 - 2,007 - 2,301
tangible fixed assets   290 8 404 - 702
Total investments   584 8 2,411 - 3,003

7. Intangible fixed assets

the following statement provides an overview of the changes in the assets recognised in this balance sheet item.

(in eur x 1,000)
     Intangible  Intangible     
     fixed assets  fixed assets Intangible 
     related to   related to fixed assets 
     customers  developed  produced  
    Goodwill and orders products in-house Total
     2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Book value as at 1 January   14,560 24,155 1,256 1,344 783 1,006 335 783 16,934 27,288
Investments    - 2,067 - - - - - -  2,067
Divestments and investments  
as a result of the sale / acquisition  
of group companies    98 (122) (73) 356 - - - - 25 234
amortisation    - (11,540) (343) (444) (224) (223) (335) (448) (902) (12,655)
          
Book value as at 31 December   14,658 14,560 840 1,256 559 783 - 335 16,057 16,934
          
total acquisition value    26,198 26,100 2,086 2,159 1,564 1,564 2,238 2,238 32,086 32,061
total amortisation    (11,540) (11,540) (1,246) (903) (1,005) (781) (2,238) (1,903) (16,029) (15,127)
          
Book value as at 31 December   14,658 14,560 840 1,256 559 783 - 335 16,057 16,934

7.1 Impairments and reversals of impairments 
Ctac did not recognise any impairment of intangible fixed assets in 2012 (in 2011 eur 11,540). nor were any impair-
ments recognised in earlier years reversed in 2012.

7.2 Impairment test for cash-flow generating units (CGUs) to which goodwill can be attributed 
the realisable value is the estimated immediate market value or the value in use if this is higher. When determining 
the value in use of an asset, the present value of the estimated future cash flows is calculated using a discount rate 
that reflects both the current market estimates of the time value of money and the specific risks relating to the asset. 

the future cash flows are estimated using current and historical results per asset. a detailed forecast is prepared 
per Cgu for the coming year based on the 2013 budgets and for the following years forecasts are prepared based 
on conservative assumptions for turnover growth and margin development. Cash flows after a period of five years 
are extrapolated with low growth percentages. the assumptions used are acceptable in the sector in which Ctac is 
active.

Ctac has four Dutch Cgus: (1) ‘Ctac Consulting’ which encompasses all sap consultancy activities, (2) ‘Ctac Micro-
soft’ for the Microsoft-related activities, (3) ‘Ctac Managed services’ for hosting and functional management, (4) 
‘other’ for the other Dutch activities. abroad Ctac distinguishes a separate Cgu for the Belgian activities and one 
for the other foreign activities.
 
goodwill in the amount of eur 12.2 million has been allocated to Ctac Consulting (2011: eur 12.5 million), goodwill 
in the amount of eur 1.0 million has been allocated to Ctac Microsoft (2011: eur 1.0 million), goodwill in the amount 
of eur 0.4 million has been allocated to Ctac Managed services (2011: eur 0.4 million), goodwill in the amount of 
eur 0.3 million has been allocated to other (2011: eur (-0.1) million), goodwill in the amount of eur 0.0 million has 
been allocated to Ctac Belgium (2011: eur 0.0 million), and goodwill in the amount of eur 0.8 million has been allo-
cated to Ctac Foreign other (2011: eur 0.8 million). the shift of goodwill from the Cgu Ctac Consulting to the Cgu 
other is the result of the reallocation of a number of activities. 

the following assumptions were used for the impairment test.
Ctac's WaCC before tax varies between 10.6% and 17.2%. For Ctac Consulting is the WaCC 10.6%, for Ctac Micro-
soft 13.0%, for Ctac Managed services 11.4%, for other 12.2%, for Ctac Belgium 12.9% and for Ctac Foreign other 
17.2%. this based on a ten-year interest rate of 2.0%, a minimum market premium of 5% and a unit market premium 
that varies between 5% and 12.0%, a Beta of 0.96 and a (e/(D+e)) ratio of 0.6. 
the risk premium for the impairment differs per activity depending on market and size, depending on consultancy or 
product sales and depending on size and growth. 
growth for all Cgu’s of 2% is used for outside the five-year period.

Based on the impairment test on the basis of the starting points above, no impairment is required in 2012.
a sensitivity analysis in which the WaCC is increased by 3% and the expected eBIta is lowered by 10% also does not 
result in impairment.
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8. Tangible fixed assets

the following statement provides an overview of the changes in the assets recognised in this balance sheet item.

(in eur x 1,000)
      Operational    
     adjustments     
     leased   Fixtures and  
     buildings  Computers fittings Total
       2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Book value as at 1 January     523 115 921 1,735 84 230 1,528 2,080
Investments       930 519 1,524  1,188 231 2 2,685 1,709
Divestments / investments as a result of  
sale / purchase of group companies    - - (3) -  - (3) -
Divestments       (335) - (803) (986) (71) (21) (1,209) (1,007)
Depreciation       (118) (111) (595) (1,016) (70) (127) (783) (1,254)
        
Book value as at 31 December    1,000 523 1,044 921 174 84 2,218 1,528
        
total acquisition value      1,080 1,286 6,223 8,632 1,095 1,352 8,398 11,270
total depreciation      (80) (763) (5,179) (7,711) (921) (1,268) (6180) (9,742)
        
Book value as at 31 December    1,000 523 1,044 921 174 84 2,218 1,528

8.1 Investments and divestments
the investments in operational adjustments to the leased buildings and fixtures and fittings are related to the move 
to the new office at the pettelaarpark in ’s-Hertogenbosch. the divestments concern the sale and lease back of some 
of the investments mentioned.
the investments in computers during 2012 mainly concern investments in laptops, servers and storage capacity. the 
divestments in computers concern the sale and lease back of servers and storage capacity for the new data centre.

8.2 Impairments and reversals of impairments
Ctac did not recognise any impairment of tangible fixed assets in 2012. Furthermore, no impairments recognised in 
earlier years were reversed in 2012.

9. Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes can be specified as follows:

      2012  2011
 (in eur x 1,000)  

Deferred tax credits     979  1,170
Deferred tax liabilities     465  680
  
Total deferred taxes     514  490

Changes in deferred tax credits can be specified as follows:

      2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  

Balance as at 1 January     1,170  1,015
  
Withdrawal in connection with carry forward   (163)  (198)
addition in connection with deductible losses   72  417
Withdrawal in connection with unrealised inter-company results  (65)  (65)
elimination as a result of sale of participation   (35) 
addition in connection with differences in fiscal and
commercial amortisation period    -  1
Balance as at 31 December    979  1,170

the rights to compensate losses against taxable profits are recognised when it is expected that compensation of the 
off-settable losses will be possible (total year-end 2012 approximately eur 2.2 million, year-end 2011: approximately 
eur 2.7 million). the amount is recognised at the nominal rate as applicable to future financial years, without taking 
any discounting into account. the total of the off-settable losses amounted to approximately eur 2.5 million at year-
end 2012 (year-end 2011: approximately eur 3.0 million). no deferred tax credit has been recognised in the past with 
regard to off-settable losses of approximately eur 0.3 million because it is insufficiently probable that these will be 
compensated by future profits.

Changes in deferred tax liabilities can be specified as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  

Balance as at 1 January     680  882
  
Intangible fixed assets related to customers, orders and developed products  
 addition in connection with acquisitions   -  91
 Withdrawal in connection with amortisation   (144)  (167)
  
Discounting of earn-out obligation  
  addition / withdrawal in connection with new obligations  
 and/or valuation differences    31  31
 Withdrawal in connection with interest accruals   (102)  (157)
  
Balance as at 31 December    465  680
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10. Trade receivables and other receivables
trade receivables and other receivables can be specified as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
 
trade receivables      16,507  13,296
provision for doubtful debts    (962)  (909)
  
trade receivables - net     15,545  12,387
turnover still to be invoiced in connection with services already provided 3,065  3,562
other receivables     342  150
prepayments and accrued income    1,576  1,277
   
Total trade receivables and other receivables    20,528  17,376

the fair value of the trade receivables and other receivables is close to the book value. this also applies on 31 De-
cember 2012 for an amount of trade receivables of eur 2.6 million (31 December 2011: eur 3.6 million) for which the 
payment term has expired. During 2012, Ctac had to write off eur 0.1 million in trade receivables due to bankrupt-
cies. at year-end 2012, the provision for receivables considered uncollectible stood at eur 1.0 million (year-end 2011: 
eur 0.9 million). 
although the payment period has lapsed, as at the balance sheet date there are no indications that the relevant 
trade debtors will not fulfil their payment obligations. other provisions have been created for a few of these debtors 
because there are still outstanding issues in relation to the performance of the projects.

the age of the trade receivables is as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  

trade receivables which are not deemed to be uncollectible  
and for which the payment period has not yet lapsed  12,957  8,775
  
trade receivables which are not deemed uncollectible  
and for which the payment period has lapsed  
less than 1 month     1,705  1,808
between 1 and 2 months    192  601
between 2 and 3 months    190  271
more than 3 months     501  932
  
      2,588  3,612
   
Total trade receivables - net     15,545  12,387

the changes in the provision for doubtful debts are as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  

 
Balance as at 1 January     909  773
addition to the provision in the year under review   201  370
receivables written off as uncollectible during the year under review (142)  (154)
released     (1)  (80)
elimination as a result of sale of participation   (5)  -
   
Balance as at 31 December     962  909

the receivables in respect of trade debtors are exclusively in euros. the addition to and the release of the provision 
are recognised in the profit and loss account under other operating expenses. amounts included in the provision 
are usually written off at the time that there is no expectation that any payments in respect of the receivable will take 
place. 

the other items in the trade receivables and other receivables do not contain any assets with an impairment. 

the prepayments and accrued income include prepaid costs, receivables in connection with current contracts with a 
fixed contract price and amounts to be received. the other receivables have a duration of less than one year both at 
year-end 2012 and year-end 2011. 

11. Cash and cash equivalents
the balances stated under this balance sheet item are at the company's disposal. amounts drawn under the current 
account credit facility totalling eur 9.5 million at year-end 2012 have been recognised under short-term liabilities. 
the majority of the group companies are jointly and severally liable for the current account credit facility. 

no financial derivatives were present within Ctac on the balance sheet date. 

the cash and cash equivalents have been placed with professional market parties that have a credit quality that is 
qualified as good.

12. Shareholders’ equity
at year-end 2012, the authorised share capital amounted to eur 7,200,000 and is divided into 30,000,000 shares of 
eur 0.24 as follows: 14,999,999 ordinary shares, 15,000,000 preference shares and 1 priority share. the issued share 
capital consists of 11,771,586 ordinary shares and 1 priority share. all issued shares are fully paid up.

the composition of and the changes in shareholders' equity over the years 2012 and 2011 are stated on page 48 of 
the financial statements. 

the number of outstanding option rights will not exceed 10% of the total number of outstanding ordinary shares. 
there are no outstanding option rights
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13. Long-term liabilities
the composition of the long-term liabilities is as follows:

13.1 amounts owed to banks
the loans concluded by the Belgian companies Ctac Belgium BVBa, Ctac Managed services n.V., with a total origi-
nal principal of eur 690,000, are recognised under long-term bank loans. the interest rate is one-month euribor + 
1.858%. an interest rate increase of 1% would increase the interest expense by eur 5,000 in 2013; eur 3,000 in 2014 
and eur 1,000 in 2015. the shares of Ctac Managed services n.V. and Ctac enterprise technology n.V. have been 
pledged as security and the loan of Ctac Belgium BVBa at Ctac n.V. (eur 0.9 million) has been subordinated.

the changes in the amounts owed to banks are as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  

Balance as at 1 January    390  910
  
loans taken out     193  -
  
transferred to current liabilities    (184)  (520)
  
Balance as at 31 December    399  390

the due dates and the expected interest payments on the amounts owed to banks are as follows:

       1-2 years >2 years Total
(in eur x 1,000)  

Maturity dates long-term loans year-end 2012   184 215 399
expected interest payments    6 3 9

13.2 other liabilities
this concerns Ctac's long-term obligations to minority shareholders of (sub)subsidiaries of Ctac n.V. with which earn-
out and/or subsequent payment agreements have been made.

Changes in the other liabilities are as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  

Balance as at 1 January    3,471  5,088
  
new obligations in connection with acquisitions   -  2,056
Valuation differences       264  (424)
  
transferred to current liabilities    (1,766)  (3,866)
accrual of earn-out obligation    400  617
  
Balance as at 31 December    2,369  3,471
 

the due dates for the earn-out obligations are as follows:

       1-2 years >2 years Total
(in eur x 1,000)  
  
Maturity dates earn-out obligations year-end 2012   1,429 940 2,369

after the poor results and outlook in 2011, the economic circumstances improved somewhat in 2012. the turnover 
forecasts for the earn-out period for the participations have been adjusted upward compared to the estimates of 
one year ago. as a result, positive valuation differences have occurred in 2012 for an amount of eur 264,000.
of these earn-out obligations, eur 1.4 million can be paid out optionally either in shares or in cash.

under the revised standard Business Combinations IFrs 3, value adjustments of earn-out obligations are recog-
nised in the result as of the financial year 2010 and are no longer retrospectively adjusted in the goodwill. 
level 3, as specified in the IFrs, applies to the valuation of these earn-out obligations.

14. Provisions
the changes in the provisions are as follows:

        2012 2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
     In connection      
     with vacant  
     premises  Other Total 
Balance as at 1 January   19 947 966 1,198
additions charged to the result   - 271 271 480
released to the result    - (235) (235) (322)
allocated    (19) (347) (366) (390)
     
Balance as at 31 December   - 636 636 966

around eur 0.1 million (2011: around eur 0.2 million) of the provisions have a term of more than a year. 

14.1 provision in connection with vacant premises
at year-end 2012 there are no longer future lease costs for buildings which are not used.

14.2 other provisions
these provisions relate to work carried out under guarantee or work still to be carried out on loss-making projects 
that are charged to the financial year in accordance with the accounting principles for the financial statements.

FInanCIal stateMents
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15. Trade payables and other debts
the composition of the trade payables and other debts is as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
 
trade payables      6,830  4,965
taxes and social security contributions    3,259  2,862
other liabilities     4,703  3,734
accruals and deferred income    9,539  7,969
  
Total trade payables and other liabilities   24,331  19,530

the item other debts includes short-term liabilities arising from earn-out agreements and obligations arising from 
a financial lease with a remaining term of 1.5 years. the debt arising from financial lease amounts to eur 105,000 
at year-end 2012; eur 69,000 of this has a term of < 1 year and eur 36,000 has a term of between 1 and 2 years. all 
other payables in the item other debts have a term of less than 1 year. 
of the short-term earn-out obligations, an amount of eur 3.5 million can be paid out optionally either in shares or in 
cash.

the accrued liabilities item includes liabilities relating to holiday pay, annual leave and bonuses, as well as other 
items to be paid that are charged to the financial year in accordance with the accounting principles for the determi-
nation of the result.

as of 15 March 2011, Ctac concluded a financing facility with aBn aMro Bank for an amount of eur 10.8 million. 
as of 1 november 2011 the facility amounted to eur 10.4 million and as of 1 august 2012, eur 9.5 million. a pledge 
right on receivables, company equipment and Ip rights has been granted as security.

16. Personnel costs
the composition of the personnel costs is as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  

Wages     33,190  32,551
reorganisation costs     -  1,177
social security charges    4,694  4,414
pension costs     1,596  1,585
other personnel costs     1,740  1,910
Total personnel costs     41,220  41,637

the pension costs concern the payment of contributions in connection with a defined contribution pension scheme. 
the other personnel costs include costs such as travel and accommodation costs and training costs. the average 
staffing based on Ftes over the year 2012 amounts to 448 (2011: 472).

17. Other operating expenses
the other operating expenses can be specified as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
 
Car expenses     5,207  5,857
accommodation expenses    2,064  2,098
Marketing and sales costs    1,637  1,734
other costs     3,964  4,108
   
Total other operating expenses    12,872  13,797

the other costs include items such as the costs of information management, automation, insurance, auditors' fees 
and consultancy fees.

an amount of around eur 1.4 million (2011: around eur 1.3 million) is recognised under accommodation expenses 
for operational lease contracts.

an amount of around eur 3.7 million (2011: around eur 4.1 million) is recognised under car expenses for operational 
lease contracts relating to cars.

the amount and composition of auditors' fees is as follows (in eur x 1,000):
a. audit of the financial statements: eur 150 
b. other review procedures: eur 15
c. tax services activities: eur 10
d. other consultancy work: eur - 
the total auditors' fees thus amount to eur 175.

18. Financing income and expenses
the financing income and expenses can be specified as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  

Financing income     2  74
Financing expenses     (189)  (428)
accrual of earn-out obligations    (400)  (617)
valuation differences earn-out obligations   (296)  505
  
Total financing income and expenses    (883)  (466)

the financing expenses include the interest due with regard to the long-term loan, the current account facilities at 
banks and the interest due in connection with taxes.
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19. Taxes

Tax position and tax burden     2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
 
Current tax liabilities     (593)  182
Deferred tax liabilities     181  259
Correction previous years    17  
  
Belastingen volgens de geconsolideerde jaarrekening  (395)  441

the tax burden on the result before taxes amounts to 35.7% (2011: 3.3%) and can be specified as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  

nominal tax burden     25.0  25.0
rate differences foreign countries    1.9  (0.1)
non-deductible amounts    6.8  (0.5)
effects of lower first bracket    (3.1)  (0.2)
Impairment and valuation differences    6.7  (20.9)
Incidental differences     (1.6)  -

Tax burden according to the consolidated financial statements  35.7  3.3

  
the effective tax burden has been calculated based on the result exclusive of the sales result on participations.

20. Results per share
profit per share and diluted profit per share.
the calculation of the base profit and the diluted profit per share accruing to the shareholders of the parent com-
pany is based on the following data:

Profit/ (loss) per share     2012  2011

result for the purpose of the base profit per share (net result in the  
reporting period accruing to the shareholders  
of the parent company) (in eur x 1,000)   809  (12,737)
   
result for the purpose of the base profit per share from  
continued activities (in eur x 1,000)    809  (12,737)
   
Number of shares  
number of ordinary shares at the beginning of the year  11,650,269  11,526,459
number of ordinary shares at the end of the year   11,771,586  11,650,269
number of weighted average outstanding ordinary shares  11,731,147  11,619,317
      
result per weighted average number of  
outstanding ordinary shares  (in eur x 1,000)   0.07  (1.10)
   
Fair value earn-out obligations (in eur x 1,000)  
to be settled in shares     4,833  6,785
   
average price (in eur)     0.83  1.30
   
potential dilution of ordinary shares*      5,807,498  5,219.355
   
number of potential shares in connection with the diluted profit per share 17,538,645  16,838,672
      
Net result per share after potential dilution (in EUR)  0.05  **

*  the potential dilution of the ordinary shares is entirely based on the method of calculating the earn-out obliga-
tions recorded in 13.2 'other liabilities' and 15. 'trade payables and other debts'.

**  net result per share after potential dilution for 2011 has not been included. potential ordinary shares must be 
treated as diluted if and only if the conversion into ordinary shares would decrease or increase respectively the 
profit or loss per share from continuing operations (Ias 33.41).
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21. Off-balance sheet contingent and contractual obligations
the company and its participations have guarantees for a total amount of around eur 0.7 million (2011: around eur 
0.4 million) outstanding. these guarantees have been issued in connection with current lease obligations and opera-
tional lease obligations.

at year-end 2012, Ctac had investment obligations regarding expansion of the data centre for an amount of eur 0.7 
million.

Cars made available to employees were generally obtained based on operational lease with a contract term varying 
from 36 to 60 months. the company and its participations have lease obligations with respect to cars for an amount 
of around eur 6.7 million (2011: eur 7.8 million) in total. this concerns operational lease obligations regarding the 
lease of passenger cars in the netherlands and Belgium for personnel with a term varying from one to five years. 

the new hardware for the data centres was obtained in 2011 based on operational lease with a contract term varying 
from 36 to 60 months. In addition, part of the already present hardware has become operational lease through sale 
and lease back. the total lease obligations for Ctac in connection with these operational leases at year-end 2012 
amounted to eur 4.7 million (2011: eur 4.4 million).

all buildings in which group companies are housed are rented. Ctac does not own any buildings. the company and 
its participations have rent obligations for an amount of around eur 9.5 million (2011: eur 8.9 million). this concerns 
rent obligations in connection with office buildings in the netherlands (’s-Hertogenbosch, Barneveld and Hilversum), 
Belgium (Wommelgem), France (paris) and germany (ratingen). all buildings are rented from non-related parties.

the composition of the rent and lease obligations is as follows:

        2012 2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
    Lease Lease  Rent    
    obligations  obligations  obligations    
    passenger  data centre  office  
    cars hardware buildings  
     
terms shorter than one year  2,905 1,408 1,275 5,588 5,908
terms longer than one year but  
shorter than five years   3,774 3,291 4,065 11,130 11,090
terms longer than five years  - - 4,124 4,124 4,064
     
     6,679 4,699 9,464 20,842 21,062

the company and most of its Dutch group companies form one or more fiscal entities for corporation tax purposes, 
as a result of which the companies in question are jointly and severally liable for the obligations of the fiscal entity.

Claims have been made against CtaC n.V. and/or its group companies that they dispute. although it is impossible 
to predict the outcome of these disputes with certainty, based on the legal advice obtained and the available infor-
mation it is assumed that they will not have any adverse significant effect on the consolidated financial position.

22. Acquisitions and divestments

22.1 divestments
the participations in Meridian It BV and Ctac supply Chain solutions BVBa were sold in 2012. the result on the sale 
of these participations was eur 93,000.

Meridian IT BV an Ctac Supply Chain Solutions BVBA    
(in eur x 1,000)  

Book value of assets and liabilities at sale     Total 
Intangible fixed assets        73  
tangible fixed assets       3 
Deferred tax credits       35 
trade receivables and other receivables     673 
trade payables and current liabilities      (841) 
Cash and cash equivalents / amounts owed to banks     (117) 
    
Net identified assets and liabilities      (174) 
sales price       (81) 
     
Result on sale of participation      93 

23. Related parties

23.1 identity oF related parties
the group companies, the members of the supervisory Board, the members of the Board of Directors and the major 
shareholders qualify as related parties of Ctac n.V.

23.2 transactions with the members oF the board oF directors and oF the supervisory board
23.2.1 remuneration policy
the aim of Ctac n.V.'s remuneration policy is to provide a clear picture of the policy that should be followed with re-
gard to the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and managers, this also in view of being able to 
ensure that the company can retain and attract qualified and experienced managers. such a policy cannot be viewed 
separately from the following points of departure:
-  the customer's interest is the central focal point. this interest is served when the members of the Board of Direc-

tors and managers satisfy the most stringent professional requirements, for whom an adequate remuneration is 
required.

-  the remuneration reflects the expertise, commitment and involvement demonstrated by the members of the Board 
of Directors and managers for the benefit of Ctac n.V.

-  the level of the remuneration is, to a certain extent, in line with the remuneration of the members of boards of 
directors and managers at comparable companies and contains a fixed and a variable component.

-  the remuneration must be partly in line with the results achieved by Ctac n.V., and therefore it is an annual item on 
the agenda for the supervisory Board meeting in which, among other things, the performance criteria upon which 
an assessment will take place are determined.

- this policy governs the members of the Board of Directors and the most senior management level and is an instru-
ment in the remuneration structure of the management within Ctac n.V.
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23.2.2 remuneration members of the board of directors
With regard to the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors, the following amounts have been recog-
nised in the result of 2012 and 2011 respectively.

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
 
Board of Directors  

H.L.J. Hilgerdenaar  
salary      218  214
once-only allotment     85
pension and disability benefit insurance   32  32
Variable remuneration     24  -
total remuneration     359  246*
  
D.G.H. van der Werf (from 19 March 2012)  
salary      166  -
pension and disability benefit insurance    31  -
Variable remuneration     24  -
total remuneration     221  -
 
Former directors  
  
W.J Wienbelt (until 16 November 2011)   
salary     -  173
pension and disability benefit insurance   -  21
Variable remuneration     -  - 
severance pay       -  217
total remuneration       411*
  
H.P.W.P.T.M. van Groenendael (until 25 August 2011)  
salary     -  148
pension and disability benefit insurance   -  -
Variable remuneration     -  -
total remuneration     -  148

the level of the variable remuneration depends on the extent to which the agreed targets have been realised. the 
most important targets are defined in targets for development in turnover and result, working capital control and 
customer and employee satisfaction.expense reimbursement and a presentable company car are also provided to 
the members of the Board of Directors.

*  Effective from the beginning of 2012, the remuneration of the members of the Executive Board is reported 
exclusive of employer's contributions and exclusive of the expense allowance and the cost of the car put at their 
disposal. The comparative figures for 2011 have been adjusted accordingly.

no loans, advances or guarantees have been provided to the directors. 
any compensation payable upon the dismissal of Mr Hilgerdenaar has not been laid down in a contract and no 
maximum has been set therefore any compensation payable upon the dismissal of Mr Van der Werf may not exceed 
one yearly salary.

23.2.3 shares held by the members of the board of directors
the members of the Board of Directors did not hold any shares or option rights at year-end 2012; this was also the 
case at year-end 2011.

23.2.4 option rights allocated to and held by the members of the board of directors
the number of outstanding option rights will not exceed 10% of the total number of outstanding ordinary shares. 

23.2.5 share appreciation rights
share appreciation rights were allocated to H.l.J. Hilgerdenaar in 2010. If on an agreed date in 2014 the price of 
Ctac rises above a determined level, a one-off maximised bonus is paid. the fair value that could be attributed to 
these share appreciation rights upon allocation was recognised in 2010 as an expense in the profit and loss account 
under 'personnel costs’. the fair value of the share appreciation rights remained unchanged in 2012, as was also the 
situation in 2011.

23.2.6 remuneration of the members of the supervisory board
With regard to the remuneration of the members of the supervisory Board, the following amounts have been recog-
nised in the result of 2012 and 2011 respectively.

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  

Supervisory Board
  
H.g.B. olde Hartmann    30  30
H.p.M. Jägers     25  25
e. Kraaijenzank     25  25

23.2.7 shares held by the members of the supervisory board
the members of the supervisory Board do not hold any shares. the members of the supervisory Board have not 
been allocated any option rights.

24. Events after the balance sheet date
no events occurred after 31 December 2012 which have a material impact on or require adjustments to the balance 
sheet positions at year-end 2012 as presented in the financial statements.
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Company balance sheet as at 31 december 2012  
(after profit appropriation)     2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
    
ASSETS    
    
Fixed assets    
    
25)  tangible fixed assets   84  65 
    
26) Intangible fixed assets   3,223  3,558 
    
27)  Financial fixed assets    
27.1 participations    15,663  14,735 
27.2 Deferred tax credits   312  467 
    
      19,282  18,825
    
Current assets    
    
28)  trade receivables and  other receivables  268  2,982 
    
Cash and cash equivalents   -  1 
       268  2,983
    
      19,550  21,808
    
LIABILITIES    
    
29) Shareholders' equity    
    
paid-up and called-up capital   2,825  2,796 
share premium    10,986  10,920 
other reserves    (6,822)  (7,631) 
    
      6,989  6,085
    
30) Long-term liabilities    
30.1 other liabilities    754  2,393 
30.2 Deferred tax liabilities   20  100 

      774  2,493
    
Current liabilities    
    
amounts owed to banks   1,048  1,816 
31) trade payables and other debts   10,739  11,414 
    
      11,787  13,230
    
      19,550  21,808

Company profit and loss account for 2011    2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
    
result from group companies after tax    949  (9,312)
other income and expenses after taxes   (140)  (3,425)
   
Net profit     809  (12,737)

Explanatory notes to the company balance sheet and profit and loss account

general
the company financial statements of Ctac n.V. are drawn up in accordance with the statutory provisions laid down in 
title 9 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. use has been made of the option offered in Book 2, article 362 of the Dutch 
Civil Code to use the same principles for valuation and determination of the result that are used in the consolidated 
financial statements for the company financial statements (IFrs). 

With regard to the company profit and loss account, use has been made of the exemption pursuant to Book 2, arti-
cle 402 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

group companies are valued in the company balance sheet at net asset value. any negative valuation of the partici-
pation is deducted from the claim on the relevant group company.

25. Tangible fixed assets
the changes in tangible fixed assets are as follows:

Total computers      2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
    
Book value as at 1 January    65  29
Investments      50  56
Divestments  
Depreciation     (31)  (20)
  
Book value as at 31 December    84  65
  
total acquisition value     148  98
total depreciation     (64)  (33)
  
Book value as at 31 December    84  65
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26. Intangible fixed assets
Changes in intangible assets are as follows:

(in eur x 1,000) 
       Intangible    
         fixed assets  
        produced   
      Goodwill  in-house Total
         2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Book value as at 1 January     3,223 4,864 335 783 3,558 5,647
Investments      - 1,782 - - - 1,782
Divestments      - - - - - -
amortisation      - (3,423) (335) (448) (335) (3,871)
      
Book value as at 31 December     3,223 3,223 - 335 3,223 3,558
      
total acquisition value      6,646 6,646 2,238 2,238 8,884 8,884
total amortisation      (3,423) (3,423) (2,238) (1,903) (5,661) (5,326)
      
Book value as at 31 December     3,233 3,233 - 335 3,233 3,558

27. Financial fixed assets
the composition of the financial fixed assets is as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
  
participations     15,663  14,735
Deferred tax credits     312  467
  
Total financial fixed assets    15,975  15,202

27.1 participations
the changes in the item participations are as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
  
Balance as at 1 January including acquired participations  14,735  23,947
result of participations    949  (9,312)
  
receivable participations    (21)  100
  
Balance as at 31 December    15,663  14,735

For an overview of the name, address and share in capital interests, reference is made to appendix 1 to the financial 
statements.

27.2 deFerred tax credits
the changes in the item deferred tax credits are as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
  
Balance as at 1 January    467  395
addition to deductible losses    -  72
Withdrawal in connection with carry forward   (155)  -
  
Balance as at 31 December    312  467

28. Trade receivables and other receivables
trade receivables and other receivables can be specified as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
  
receivables from group companies    -  1,976
taxes and social security contributions   -  585
other receivables     268  421 
   
Total trade receivables and other receivables    268  2,982

29. Shareholders’ equity
see the statement of assets and liabilities on page 48 of thisi financial statement.

30. Long-term liabilities
the composition of the long-term liabilities is as follows:

30.1 other liabilities
this concerns Ctac's long-term obligations to minority shareholders of subsidiaries of Ctac n.V. with which earn-out 
and/or subsequent payment agreements have been made. 

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
  
Balance as at 1 January    2,393  2,222
Changed obligations in connection with new agreements    1,716
Valuation differences     (133)  (621)
accrual of interest earn-out obligations   217  332
transferred to current     (1,723)  (1,256)
  
Balance as at 31 December    754  2,393

FInanCIal stateMents

84   CtaC annual report 2012 85



30.2 deFerred tax liabilities

Changes in deferred tax liabilities can be specified as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
 
Balance as at 1 January     100  142
  
addition in connection with changed / new  
earn-out obligations or valuation differences    (25)  43
Withdrawal in connection with accrual of interest earn-out obligations (55)  (85) 
  
Balance as at 31 December    20  100

31. Trade payables and other debts
the composition of the trade payables and other debts is as follows:

       2012  2011
(in eur x 1,000)  
  
trade payables      3,149  1,372
taxes and social security contributions    29  29
other debts     2,496  1,338
other debts inter-company    4,713  8,292
accruals and deferred income    352  383

Total trade payables and other debts   10,739  11,414

Employees 
the average staffing based on Ftes over the year 2012 amounts to 1.8.
Ctac n.V. does not employ any employees outside of the netherlands.

Contingent liabilities
the company forms part of a tax entity for corporation tax; consequently, the company is jointly and severally liable 
for the tax liabilities of the tax entity as a whole.

Directors' declaration
pursuant to new statutory provisions, the directors hereby declare that to the best of their knowledge:
1.  the financial statements as included on pages 46 to 87 of this report provide a true and fair picture of the assets, li-

abilities, the financial position and the profit over the financial year of Ctac n.V. and the companies included in the 
consolidation;

2.  the annual report provides a true and fair view of the situation at the balance sheet date, the course of busi-
ness during the financial year of Ctac n.V. and the companies affiliated with Ctac of which the figures have been 
included in the financial statements. the material risks which Ctac n.V. faces are described in the annual report.

’s-Hertogenbosch, 21 march 2013

Board of Directors
Mr H.l.J. Hilgerdenaar 
Mr D.g.H. van der Werf

supervisory Board
Mr H.g.B. olde Hartmann
Mr H.p.M. Jägers
Mr e. Kraaijenzank
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Provision in the articles of association regarding 
profit appropriation
according to article 30 of the articles of association, a 
dividend is paid out on the priority share that equals six 
percent (6%) of the nominal amount. the Board of the 
Directors, with the approval of the supervisory Board, 
subsequently determines which part of the remaining 
profit shall be reserved. the remaining profit, after the 
addition to the reserves, is at the disposal of the gen-
eral Meeting of shareholders. 

Profit appropriation proposal
the proposal to be submitted to the general Meeting 
of shareholders is not to pay out a dividend over 2012. 

Special controlling rights under the articles of 
association
special controlling rights are attached to the prior-
ity share held by the priority Foundation of Ctac n.V. 
regarding the appointment, suspension or dismissal 
of board members, share issues, pre-emptive rights, 
amendments to the articles of association and the dis-
solution of the company. 

Protective measures
Ctac can make use of the following protective meas-
ures:
- priority shares, held by the priority Foundation;
-  the option to place preference shares with the Conti-

nuity Foundation;
- the issue of depository receipts for shares.

The following conditions apply to implementing 
the protective measures
ctac priority Foundation
the issue of shares takes place following a resolution of 
the priority Foundation. the appointment of the priority 
Foundation as the body authorised to issue shares can 
be extended under the articles of association or by a 
resolution of the general Meeting of shareholders each 
time for a period of no longer than five years.

resolutions to issue preference shares or to grant any 
right to subscribe to such shares of other bodies other 
than the general Meeting of shareholders are always 
subject to the cooperation of the supervisory Board. 
a transfer of preference shares requires the approval 
of the supervisory Board. the pre-emptive right in 
connection with an issue of shares can be restricted or 
excluded by the priority Foundation. the appropriate 
authority of the priority Foundation ends at the point in 
time at which the authority of the priority Foundation 
to issue shares ends. the priority Foundation also plays 
a role in the appointment, suspension and dismissal of 
members of the Board of Directors. the members of 
the Board of Directors are appointed by the general 
Meeting of shareholders from a binding list of candi-
dates of at least two persons to be drawn up by the 

priority Foundation. a resolution to suspend or dismiss 
a member of the Board of Directors can, if not passed 
following a proposal by the priority Foundation, only be 
adopted by a majority of two thirds of the votes cast, 
representing more than half of the issued share capital. 
Finally, the priority Foundation plays a decisive role in 
amendments to the articles of association and in the 
resolution to dissolve the company. such resolutions 
can only be adopted following a proposal by the prior-
ity Foundation.

the board members oF the priority Foundation 
in 2012 were:
1. Mr H.p.M. Jägers (chairman),
2. Mr a.J.M. van riet,
3. Mr H.l.J. Hilgerdenaar.

Mr a.J.M. van riet is a lawyer and founder as well as 
senior partner of the law firm Van riet Wijnands Keuter 
advocaten. He is also a supervisory board member of a 
number of construction and development companies. 
He is a former member of the supervisory board of 
rabobank utrecht and the supervisory board of tergooi 
Hospital. 

ctac continuity Foundation 
the objective of the Continuity Foundation is to 
promote the interests of Ctac, the companies affiliated 
with it and its group companies, as well as all parties 
involved, in such a manner that the interests of the 
company, the group companies and the companies 
and all other parties involved are safeguarded to the 
greatest possible extent and that influences that could 
harm the independence and/or the continuity and/
or the identity of the company, the group companies 
and the companies in violation of those interests are 
excluded as much as possible, as well as to do anything 
that is related to or may be conducive to the above. the 
Continuity Foundation seeks to achieve its objective 
by acquiring and holding shares - in particular prefer-
ence shares - in the company's capital and by exercis-
ing the rights attached to these shares, including, in 
particular, the voting rights connected to these shares. 
the Continuity Foundation can only acquire preference 
shares as referred to above - without the cooperation 
of the company's general Meeting of shareholders - 
including the acquisition of the right to subscribe to 
preference shares, up to a maximum amount of fifty 
percent (50%) of the total nominal amount of the issued 
ordinary shares and the issued priority share in the 
capital of the company. preference shares can be issued 
against partial payment, on the understanding that 
the mandatory part of the nominal amount to be paid 
must be the same for each preference share and that 
when preference shares are subscribed to, at least one 
quarter (25%) of the nominal amount must have been 
paid. the Continuity Foundation is authorised to sell, 
pledge - providing that the voting rights attached to the 

shares in question are not transferred to the pledgee - 
or otherwise encumber the shares it has acquired with 
the proviso that the Foundation requires the approval 
of the supervisory Board to sell the shares. the board 
of the Continuity Foundation consists of two board 
members a and three board members B. the board 
members a are appointed, subject to the approval of 
the supervisory Board, by the Board of Directors of the 
company from among the members of the supervisory 
Board or the Board of Directors. the board members B 
are appointed by the board of the Continuity Founda-
tion itself, subject to the approval of the Board of Direc-
tors of the company, for which the Board of Directors 
in turn requires the approval of the supervisory Board. 
the Continuity Foundation is independent of Ctac. the 
articles of the Continuity Foundation contain safeguards 
for the independence of the board members B. Further-
more, the Continuity Foundation can only be represent-
ed by a board member a and a board member B acting 
jointly. If no board member a is in office, the Continuity 
Foundation is represented by two board members B 
acting jointly. 

the board members a oF the continuity 
Foundation in 2012 were:
1.  Mr H.g.B. olde Hartmann  

(board member since 18 May 2005),
3.  Mr H.l.J. Hilgerdenaar  

(board member since 16 november 2011).

the board members b oF the continuity 
Foundation in 2012 were:
1.  Mr J.a. Dekker (Chairman)  

(board member since 31 october 2005)
2.  Mr M.l.M. de Bruijn  

(board member since 5 March 1998)
3.  Mr e. Jamin  

(board member since 5 March 1998).

Mr J.a. Dekker was the president of the Dutch royal 
Institute of engineers until 2011 and is a member of 
the supervisory board of MCo as well as agens, and 
a board member of De Baak. In addition, he is also a 
board member of another continuity foundation, name-
ly that of royal Boskalis. Mr Dekker previously worked 
at akzo, gtI and tno and has served as member of 
the supervisory board of BaM, asMl, Hes, nimox, van 
Wezel and gamma. His most recent position was chair-
man of the board of directors of tno.
 

Mr M.l.M. de Bruijn is the director and principal share-
holder of M.l.M. de Bruijn B.V. tax, legal and Financial 
engineering. His expertise lies in the field of corporate 
(re)structuring, mergers and acquisitions, funding of 
business projects, venture capital etc. Mr De Bruijn is a 
board member of CMg pension fund. He is a member 
of the supervisory board of, for instance, Hypotheek 
Visie B.V. and Hypotheek Visie Beheer B.V. Mr De Bruijn 
worked previously as a partner at the law firms Dla 
schut grosheide, De Brauw Blackstone Westbroek and 
Buruma Maris advocaten. as of 1 July 2011, Mr De 
Bruijn is the Managing Director of Ford sollers nether-
lands B.V., an american-russian joint venture.

Mr e. Jamin is an independent adviser; he works on an 
interim-basis for medium-sized and large companies 
and non-profit organisations. His specialisations lie 
in the field of treasury advice, providing support with 
change processes as a consequence of computerisa-
tion or reorganisation, and setting up and structuring 
financial positions. Mr Jamin was previously employed 
at, for instance, Coopers & lybrand, Fuji photo Film and 
Van Den Boom group. 

the total remuneration received by the board members 
by virtue of their positions as board members of the 
Continuity Foundation amounted to eur 7,200 over the 
year 2012. 

Despite the obligation, pursuant to the Financial super-
vision act, to make a public offer, which obligation ap-
plies to shareholders that acquire at least thirty percent 
(30%) of the voting rights, it remains possible to issue 
protection preference shares to the Continuity Founda-
tion in the event of a (hostile) public bid.

the obligation to make a public offer does not apply to 
the Continuity Foundation, provided that the Continuity 
Foundation meets certain requirements, including the 
required independence from Ctac. 
In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the supervisory 
Board and the Board of the Continuity Foundation, 
the requirements of independence are met. the board 
members B of the Continuity Foundation have signed a 
declaration of independence, which has been added to 
this section as a final paragraph.
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Right of investigation
In accordance with article 2:346, paragraph c of the 
Dutch Civil Code, Ctac has granted the right of inves-
tigation to the Continuity Foundation. the Continuity 
Foundation is also authorised to demand injunctive 
relief by virtue of article 2:349a of the Dutch Civil Code 
if the interest of Ctac specifically requires this. the Con-
tinuity Foundation will only exercise the right of investi-
gation and the right to demand injunctive relief within 
the objective of the Continuity Foundation if there are 
justifiable reasons to doubt the correctness of a policy. 
the Continuity Foundation will only exercise the right of 
investigation and the right to demand injunctive relief 
after prior consultation with Ctac's Board of Directors 
and Ctac's supervisory Board.

Issue of depository receipts for shares
no depository receipts for shares have currently been 
issued with the cooperation of the company.

Declaration of Independence Continuity 
Foundation
the Board of Directors of Ctac n.V. and the board of 
the Continuity Foundation declare that, in their joint 
opinion, the Ctac Continuity Foundation is a legal entity 
independent of Ctac n.V. within the meaning of section 
5:71, subsection 1, part c of the Financial supervision 
act. 

’s-Hertogenbosch, 21 March 2013

Ctac N.V
Mr H.L.J. Hilgerdenaar
Mr D.G.H. van der Werf

Ctac Continuity Foundation
Mr J.A. Dekker
Mr H.G.B. Olde Hartmann
Mr M.L.M. de Bruijn
Mr E. Jamin
Mr H.L.J. Hilgerdenaar
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To: the General Meeting of Shareholders and the Man-
agement of CTAC N.V.

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying financial state-
ments 2012 of CtaC n.V., ‘s-Hertogenbosch. the 
financial statements include the consolidated financial 
statements and the company financial statements. the 
consolidated financial statements comprise the consoli-
dated statement of financial position as at December 
31, 2012, the consolidated statements of comprehen-
sive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of 
the significant accounting policies and other explana-
tory information. the company financial statements 
comprise the company balance sheet as at December 
31, 2012 the company profit and loss account for the 
year then ended and the notes, comprising a sum-
mary of the accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

Management’s responsibility
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements in accord-
ance with International Financial reporting standards 
as adopted by the european union and with part 9 of 
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and for the preparation 
of the management board report in accordance with 
part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore 
management is responsible for such internal control as 
it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the 
Dutch standards on auditing. this requires that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstate-
ment.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain au-
dit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. the procedures selected depend 
on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial state-
ments, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presenta-
tion of the financial statements in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the  effectiveness of the entity's internal control. an 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion with respect to the consolidated 
financial statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
CtaC n.V. as at December 31, 2012 its result and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial reporting standards as adopted 
by the european union and with part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code.

Opinion with respect to the company financial 
statements
In our opinion, the company financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of CtaC n.V. 
as at December 31, 2012 and of its result for the year 
then ended in accordance with part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
pursuant to the legal requirement under section 2:393 
sub 5 at e and f of the Dutch Civil Code, we have no 
deficiencies to report as a result of our examination 
whether the management board report, to the extent 
we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with 
part 9 of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the informa-
tion as required under section 2:392 sub 1 at b-h has 
been annexed. Further we report that the management 
board report, to the extent we can assess, is consistent 
with the financial statements as required by section 
2:391 sub 4 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Eindhoven, 21 March 2013

BDO Audit & Assurance B.V.
on its behalf,

sgd. P.P.J.G. Saasen RA

InDepenDent  
auDItor’s report
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Results (x EUR 1,000)  2012 2011 2010

net turnover  79,861 72,983 71,402 
operating result before impairment of goodwill  
and one-off restructuring costs 1,990 5 1,190
operating result  1,990 (12,712) 1,190
net result 805 (12,737) 201
Depreciation 1,474 13,890 2,627 
Cash flow (net profit plus depreciation charges) 2,279 1,153 2,828
 

Assets (x EUR 1,000)

tangible fixed assets 2,218 1,528 2,080 
Intangible fixed assets  16,057 16,934 27,288 
Deferred tax credits 979 1,170 1,015 
Current assets 20,639 17,725 19,328 
Current liabilities 29,619 26,660 24,236 
shareholders’ equity 6,989 6,085 18,562
total assets  39,893 37,357 49,711 
   

Personnel

number of employees at year-end  466 492 501 
average number of employees (Fte)  448 472 462 
average number of chargeable employees (Fte)  406 430 419 
outflow per year (head count) 91 89 52 
turnover per employee (per Fte x eur 1,000)  178 155 154 
turnover per chargeable employee (per Fte x eur 1,000) 197 170 170 
net profit per employee (per Fte x eur 1,000)  2 (27) 0
 

Ratios

operating result/net turnover  2.5% (17.4%) 1.7%
net profit/net turnover  1.0% (17.5%) 0.3% 
net profit/average shareholders' equity  12.3% (103.4%) 1.1% 
Current assets/current liabilities  0.70 0.66 0.80 
shareholders' equity/total assets  18% 16% 37% 
    

Per share of EUR 0.24 nominal value 

number of weighted average outstanding ordinary shares  11,731,147 11,619,317 11,526,459
Dividend  0 0 0 
net result  0.07 (1.10) 0.02 
Cash flow  0.19 0.10 0.25 
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BI - (Business Intelligence)
the process of converting data into information, which
then provides business knowledge

CCC - (Customer Care Centre)
Centre that provides support for the management ac-
tivities. Customer questions/issues are handled via the 
service Desk and service Managers ensure the quality 
of the management service

Cloud (computing) - Cloud computing is the provision 
of hardware, software and/or data on demand via the 
internet

Composed Solution - Composed solution for specific 
markets

CRM - (Customer Relationship Management)
Integrated customer management

Discharge - release from liability

DNA - (The New Approach) 
the new Ctac way of working, in the new head office

EAM - (Enterprise Asset Management)
the automated management of business assets

Hosting - the hosting of software, applications and/or 
data on a web server

IaaS - (Infrastructure-as-a-Service)
the infrastructure is provided virtually (in the cloud). the 
customer only pays for what is actually used

ICT Solution Provider - ICt & business consultancy 
supplier

Management - Management of information systems

Microsoft Dynamics NAV - (Navision)  
Microsoft software that provides administrative support 
for business processes

PaaS - (Platform-as-a-Service)
service within cloud computing that gives the user the 
opportunity to use existing applications or develop and 
operate its own applications, all within a preconfigured 
infrastructure

Portal - Central internet access to applications and 
information

SaaS - (Software-as-a-Service) 
software that is offered as an online service (in the 
cloud). the customer does not need to purchase the 
software but, for instance, can conclude a contract per 
user per month, possibly in combination with other 
parameters

SAP Business All-in-One - Complete and integrated 
sector solutions for all aspects of a medium sized 
business

SAP ERP System - (Enterprise Resource Planning)
sap software that provides administrative support for 
business processes

SAP NetWeaver - the application and integration 
platform for process-oriented management as well as 
the technical foundation for all sap applications in the 
sap business suite

SCM - (Supply Chain Management)  
sap specific software for the management of informa-
tion, money and goods in networks

Template - a fixed processing element containing a 
section of code that can be implemented rapidly

Total Solution Provider - entity that provides the total 
ICt process, from design to operation (think, build, 
keep-it-running)

Value Consultancy - Improving our customer’s business 
with our proposition

Value Partner - a partnership that adds essential value 
to the customer’s business

VAR - (Value-Added Reseller)  
a reseller who provides added value to a solution in the 
form of knowledge and expertise

VNSG - (Vereniging van Nederlandse SAP Gebruikers) 
Independent association of Dutch sap users

WMS - (Warehouse Management System)  
automated warehouse solution that manages the loca-
tion layout in a rack storage area, handles the order flow 
in the correct planning order and manages the goods 
flow, for instance

Works Council - Ctac works council
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Disclosure of Major Holdings and Capital Interests in Securities-Issuing Institutions Decree (Decree 
article 10 Takeover Directive)
the authorised share capital of Ctac n.V. amounts to eur 7,200,000 and is divided into 30,000,000 shares of eur 0.24 
as follows: 14,999,999 ordinary shares, 15,000,000 preference shares and 1 priority share. the issued share capital 
consists of 11,771,586 ordinary shares and 1 priority share.
Information about provisions in the articles of association regarding profit appropriation and about special control-
ling rights of Ctac n.V. provided for by the articles of association are included under 'other information' in this 
annual report on page 88. 

pursuant to the Financial supervision act and the Disclosure of Major Holdings and Capital Interests in securities-
Issuing Institutions Decree, the following substantial participating interests with regard to Ctac n.V. have been 
reported to the netherlands authority for the Financial Markets:

Group companies / main participating interests  Place of Business  Participation   
    in % year-end 2012 

Ctac n.V.
 yellow2B B.V. eindhoven   52
 yellow & red B.V. eindhoven   52

Ctac nederland B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch  100
 alpha Distri B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch  50.5 
 Crossverge B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch  100
 Ctac Healthcare B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch   50.5
 Ctac Warehouse optimization B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch   51
 Ctac B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch  100
 Ctac Business services B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch  100
 Ctac MKB B.V.  ’s-Hertogenbosch  100
    Ctac Dynamics B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch   75.5
    myuice Business one B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch  100
    myuice logistics B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch  100
    myuice all-in-one B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch  100
      erp 2 B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch  100
 Ctac netIt services B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch  100
 IFs probity B.V. Barneveld   60
 persity resourcing B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch   51
 persity search B.V. ’s-Hertogenbosch   51 
 

Ctac Deutschland gmbH ratingen, germany  100

Ctac Belgium BVBa Wommelgem, Belgium  100 
 Ctac Managed services n.V Wommelgem, Belgium  100
 Ctac professional services n.V Wommelgem, Belgium  100

Ctac France sas parijs, France   70.6

all of the above-mentioned companies have been included fully in the consolidation.
all shares confer the same rights.

suppleMent 1
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